Published for SISSA by 🖄 Springer

RECEIVED: January 29, 2018 REVISED: May 12, 2018 ACCEPTED: June 10, 2018 PUBLISHED: June 14, 2018

Massive and massless spin-2 scattering and asymptotic superluminality

James Bonifacio,^a Kurt Hinterbichler,^a Austin Joyce^b and Rachel A. Rosen^b

E-mail: james.bonifacio@case.edu, kurt.hinterbichler@case.edu, austin.joyce@columbia.edu, rar2172@columbia.edu

ABSTRACT: We constrain theories of a massive spin-2 particle coupled to a massless spin-2 particle by demanding the absence of a time advance in eikonal scattering. This is an S-matrix consideration that leads to model-independent constraints on the cubic vertices present in the theory. Of the possible cubic vertices for the two spin-2 particles, the requirement of subluminality leaves a particular linear combination of cubic vertices of the Einstein-Hilbert type. Either the cubic vertices must appear in this combination or new physics must enter at a scale parametrically the same as the mass of the massive spin-2 field, modulo some standard caveats. These conclusions imply that there is a one-parameter family of ghost-free bimetric theories of gravity that are consistent with subluminal scattering. When both particles couple to additional matter, subluminality places additional constraints on the matter couplings. We additionally reproduce these constraints by considering classical scattering off of a shockwave background in the ghost-free bimetric theory.

KEYWORDS: Classical Theories of Gravity, Effective Field Theories, Scattering Amplitudes

ARXIV EPRINT: 1712.10020



^a CERCA, Department of Physics, Case Western Reserve University, 10900 Euclid Ave, Cleveland, OH 44106, U.S.A.

^bCenter for Theoretical Physics, Department of Physics, Columbia University, New York, NY 10027, U.S.A.

Contents

1	Introduction		1
2	On-shell cubic amplitudes		4
	2.1	General construction	4
	2.2	Three massive particles	5
	2.3	Two massive particles and one massless particle	6
	2.4	Two massless particles and one massive particle	7
	2.5	Three massless particles	7
	2.6	Scalar coupling	8
	2.7	S-matrix equivalence principle constraints	8
3	Eikonal scattering in $D = 4$		9
	3.1	Kinematics	9
	3.2	Polarizations	10
	3.3	Scalar-spin-2 eikonal scattering	12
	3.4	Spin-2-spin-2 eikonal scattering	17
4	Shockwaves and Shapiro delay in ghost-free bi-gravity		19
	4.1	Ghost-free bi-gravity	19
	4.2	Cubic vertices of ghost-free bi-gravity	21
	4.3	Background solutions	22
	4.4	Fluctuations	24
		4.4.1 Massless shockwave	24
		4.4.2 Massive shockwave	25
		4.4.3 General case	26
	4.5	Implications for bi-gravity	27
5	5 Eikonal scattering in $D > 4$		28
6	6 Conclusions		

1 Introduction

In this paper we study infrared (IR) constraints on theories containing both a massive spin-2 particle and a massless spin-2 particle in the low energy spectrum, extending the analyses of [1] and [2, 3]. Consistent effective field theories (EFTs) describing a massive spin-2 particle coupled to a massless spin-2 particle with a cutoff scale parametrically larger than its mass can be constructed by introducing dynamics for the reference metric in the

EFT of a single massive spin-2 particle [4, 5]. The theory of this type with the highest known cutoff and largest known regime of validity is ghost-free bi-gravity [6], obtained by making the reference metric of ghost-free [7] massive gravity [8, 9] dynamical. However, just as in the theory of a single massive spin-2 particle, it is not known whether any of these theories can arise as the IR effective theory of some ultraviolet (UV)-complete description. Our goal is to find constraints that may point us in the right direction.¹

Absence of superluminality is a traditional constraint placed on low-energy theories. These constraints are usually derived by looking for a classical background solution to the effective theory, and then demanding subluminal propagation of fluctuations about this solution. (This was mentioned in the context of bi-gravity in [11].) However, it is more desirable to have a sharp S-matrix diagnostic of superluminality that applies asymptotically and sidesteps questions about whether the background can actually be reached dynamically within the regime of the effective theory [12, 13] or whether the superluminality is itself detectable within the effective theory [14].

Eikonal scattering is a kinematic regime of $2 \rightarrow 2$ scattering where the center-of-mass energy squared, s, is taken to be large with the impact parameter held fixed. We display the precise eikonal kinematics for particles of any mass in section 3. The leading contribution to scattering in this kinematic regime is captured by a sum of ladder and crossed ladder diagrams in the *t*-channel, which exponentiate into the expression [15–17]

$$i\mathcal{M}_{\text{eikonal}}(s,t) = 2s \int d^2 \vec{b} \, e^{i\vec{q}\cdot\vec{b}} \left(e^{i\delta(s,\vec{b})} - 1\right) \,. \tag{1.1}$$

Here \vec{b} is the impact parameter, Fourier conjugate to the exchanged momentum, \vec{q} , and the eikonal phase, δ , is given by

$$\delta(s,\vec{b}) = \frac{1}{2s} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^2 \vec{q}}{(2\pi)^2} e^{-i\vec{q}\cdot\vec{b}} \mathcal{M}_4(s,-\vec{q}\,^2) \,, \tag{1.2}$$

where $\mathcal{M}_4(s,t)$ is the tree-level *t*-channel amplitude evaluated in the eikonal limit. When the external polarizations have spin, there will also be polarization labels on the eikonal phase and amplitudes.

The eikonal phase is related to the time delay experienced by one particle scattering off of the other, in lightcone coordinate time [1, 3, 18]

$$\Delta x^{-} = \frac{1}{|p^{-}|} \delta(s, b).$$
(1.3)

In UV-complete theories, the expectation is that particles can only experience time delays $\Delta x^- \geq 0$, never time advances $\Delta x^- < 0$. This corresponds to a positivity requirement on the eikonal phase, $\delta \geq 0$.

As noted in [1], the eikonal phase only depends on the on-shell three-point scattering amplitudes of the theory. This is most easily seen by performing a complex deformation of the q_1 integration contour in (1.2). Upon deformation, the integral picks up the residue of any *t*-channel poles. By complex factorization, this residue is given by a product of on-shell

¹Similar constraints can also be placed on some theories of massless higher spins [10].

three point amplitudes [19]. This results in a contribution

$$\delta(s,b) = \frac{\sum_{I} \mathcal{M}_{3}^{13I}(i\partial_{\vec{b}}) \mathcal{M}_{3}^{I24}(i\partial_{\vec{b}})}{2s} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^{2}\vec{q}}{(2\pi)^{2}} \frac{e^{-i\vec{q}\cdot\vec{b}}}{\vec{q}^{2} + m^{2}}$$
(1.4)

for each exchanged particle of mass m. Here the index I sums over polarizations of the exchanged particle.

If the eikonal phase is negative, $\delta < 0$, for some choice of polarizations, it means that there is asymptotic superluminality in the theory visible at a scale $\sim m$, which is the typical scale suppressing derivatives in the cubic vertices in the effective theories of interest. Assuming the UV theory does not have such asymptotic superluminality, either the cubic vertices responsible for $\delta < 0$ must be absent, or new physics must come in at a scale $\sim m$, meaning there cannot be a parametric gap to the next most massive states, as would be required to have an effective field theory with a cutoff parametrically larger than the mass. Thus, under the assumption of such a UV completion with a gap, we can place sharp model-independent constraints on the cubic vertices.

On-shell cubic vertices are strongly constrained by Lorentz invariance. In D = 4 dimensions, there are only 12 possible cubic interaction vertices involving combinations of a single massive spin-2 particle and a single massless spin-2 particle. Demanding the absence of a time advance in eikonal scattering leaves a particular linear combination of cubic vertices which on-shell are equivalent to the Einstein-Hilbert cubic structure. Within this linear combination, there is a free parameter which roughly corresponds to the ratio of the Planck masses for the two spin-2 fields. When both spin-2 particles couple to matter, we find additional constraints on the matter couplings.

One application of these constraints is to ghost-free "bi-gravity" [6]. This is an effective theory of two interacting spin-2 particles, one massive and one massless, with a cutoff scale parametrically larger than the mass of the massive spin-2 particle. The theory contains two free parameters in addition to the two Planck masses, the spin-2 mass and a possible cosmological constant for each of the metrics. Among theories generalizing massive gravity, this theory has seen the widest application to cosmology (see [20–23] for reviews and further references). The constraints we find here reduce the two-parameter family of theories to a one-parameter sub-family. In D = 4 dimensions, this one-parameter family is the unique choice for which there is a \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry under the interchange of the two metrics. Our constraints also constrain the coupling of ghost-free bi-gravity to matter, as summarized in figure 2 for the case of coupling to a single scalar field. We determine these constraints both through eikonal scattering and by considering classical scattering off of a shockwave background in the ghost-free bimetric theory.

Another application is to large-N confining QCD, which is essentially a weakly-coupled theory of interacting higher spins (the hadrons and glueballs of the theory). The constraints we derive here also serve as constraints on the possible interactions of a large-N QCD with a massive spin-2 particle as the lightest state, and the way in which it can interact with gravity. If some large-N QCD-like theory has an isolated massive spin-2 excitation, then its cubic self-couplings and its couplings to gravity must appear in the specific combinations we find.

2 On-shell cubic amplitudes

The $2 \rightarrow 2$ scattering amplitudes in the eikonal regime are only sensitive to the on-shell cubic vertices in a theory. The first step is therefore to enumerate the possible on-shell cubic vertices for a given particle content. These three-point vertices are strongly constrained by Lorentz invariance — they are fixed to have a finite number of structures for a given particle content. Here we will use the construction presented in [24] to enumerate the possible cubic vertices describing the interactions in the theory of a single massless and a single massive spin-2 particle.

2.1 General construction

Consider the on-shell amplitude for the scattering of three particles with integer spins, s_a , and masses, m_a , where a = 1, 2, 3. Each particle has a corresponding momentum vector, p_a^{μ} , which are on-shell, i.e., satisfy $p_a^2 = -m_a^2$ and $p_1^{\mu} + p_2^{\mu} + p_3^{\mu} = 0$. The polarization data is carried by $\epsilon_a^{\mu_1...\mu_{s_a}}$, which is a symmetric, transverse $(p_{a\mu}\epsilon_a^{\mu\mu_2...\mu_{s_a}} = 0)$ traceless $(\epsilon_{a\mu}{}^{\mu\mu_3...\mu_{s_a}} = 0)$ tensor associated to each particle. Since the polarization tensors are symmetric, it is convenient to make the replacement

$$\epsilon_a^{\mu_1\cdots\mu_{s_a}} \mapsto z_a^{\mu_1}\cdots z_a^{\mu_{s_a}},\tag{2.1}$$

where z_a^{μ} is some auxiliary vector.² The transversality and traceless conditions on $\epsilon^{\mu_1 \cdots \mu_{s_a}}$ translate into the condition that z_a^{μ} is both null and transverse: $z_a^2 = 0$ and $p_a \cdot z_a = 0$.

Tree amplitudes are Lorentz-invariant contractions of the momenta and polarizations constructed from polynomials of the scalar invariants built by contracting z's and p's. The three types of contraction are $z_{ab} \equiv z_a \cdot z_b$, $zp_{ab} \equiv z_a \cdot p_b$, and $p_{ab} \equiv p_a \cdot p_b$. For cubic amplitudes there are no independent p_{ab} invariants because they can be written in terms of masses using momentum conservation and the on-shell conditions. We can also eliminate three of the six possible zp_{ab} invariants by contracting the momentum conservation equation with each z_a . The most general on-shell three-point scattering amplitude can thus be written as a sum of terms of the form

$$\mathcal{A}_3(p_1, p_2, p_3) \propto z_{12}^{n_{12}} z_{13}^{n_{13}} z_{23}^{n_{23}} z p_{12}^{m_{12}} z p_{23}^{m_{23}} z p_{31}^{m_{31}}, \qquad (2.2)$$

where the exponents n_{ab} and m_{ab} are non-negative integers. Since each z_a comes from a polarization tensor (2.1), the amplitude (2.2) must also be homogeneous of order s_a in each of the z_a , meaning that the equations

$$n_{12} + n_{13} + m_{12} = s_1, (2.3a)$$

$$n_{12} + n_{23} + m_{23} = s_2, \tag{2.3b}$$

$$n_{13} + n_{23} + m_{31} = s_3, (2.3c)$$

must be satisfied. These equations have a finite number of solutions and each solution gives an independent cubic amplitude [24, 25]. If the process of interest involves identical

 $^{^{2}}$ This is just a trick to keep track of index contractions and does not mean that the physical polarizations can be written as outer products.

particles, we can decompose the amplitudes into irreducible representations of the symmetric group which acts by interchanging particles. In what follows, we will restrict our interest to situations where we have a single particle of a given type and so the kinematic factors must be symmetric under exchange of some of the external particles, but in more general situations the kinematic factors can be antisymmetric with the introduction of color factors.

When there are massless particles with spin ≥ 1 , the amplitudes must be gauge invariant. If particle *a* is massless, this corresponds to the invariance of the amplitude under the replacement

$$z_a \mapsto z_a + \varepsilon p_a , \qquad (2.4)$$

which generally reduces the number of allowed structures. (There can also be parity odd cubic amplitudes in five or fewer dimensions, which contain contractions of z's and p's with an antisymmetric tensor, but here we will restrict our attention to the parity-even cases.)

In four or fewer dimensions there can also be redundancies in the cubic amplitudes due to dimensionally dependent identities. For example, in four-dimensions, which is the case we will be mostly interested in, any five four-vectors cannot be linearly independent. This implies that the following Gram determinant of the five vectors z_1 , z_2 , z_3 , p_1 and p_2 must vanish [24, 26]:

$$\epsilon^{\mu_1\mu_2\mu_3\mu_4\mu_5}\epsilon_{\nu_1\nu_2\nu_3\nu_4\nu_5}p_{1\,\mu_1}p_1^{\nu_1}p_{2\,\mu_2}p_2^{\nu_2}z_{1\,\mu_3}z_1^{\nu_3}z_{2\,\mu_4}z_2^{\nu_4}z_{3\,\mu_5}z_3^{\nu_5} = 0.$$
(2.5)

This gives relations between the various structures built from these constituents.

We now proceed to list the three-point amplitudes that will be relevant for the eikonal scattering calculation. These are obtained by first solving (2.3) and then imposing the relevant particle exchange/gauge symmetries on the resulting amplitudes (2.2). In what follows there are two mass scales: m is the mass of the massive spin-2 particle, which is used to suppress powers of the derivatives in the interaction vertices, and $M_{\rm Pl}$ is the Planck mass, which will suppress powers of the field.

2.2 Three massive particles

Solving the equations (2.3) for the case of three identical massive spin-2 particles gives five independent cubic vertices which are symmetric under interchange:

• Zero derivatives

$$\mathcal{A}_1 = m^2 z_{12} z_{13} z_{23}, \tag{2.6}$$

• Two derivatives

$$\mathcal{A}_2 = z_{23}^2 z p_{12}^2 + z_{13}^2 z p_{23}^2 + z_{12}^2 z p_{31}^2, \qquad (2.7a)$$

$$\mathcal{A}_3 = z_{13} z_{23} z p_{12} z p_{23} + z_{12} z_{23} z p_{12} z p_{31} + z_{12} z_{13} z p_{23} z p_{31}, \qquad (2.7b)$$

• Four derivatives

$$\mathcal{A}_4 = \frac{1}{m^2} z p_{12} z p_{23} z p_{31} \left(z_{12} z p_{31} + z_{23} z p_{12} + z_{13} z p_{23} \right), \qquad (2.8)$$

• Six derivatives

$$\mathcal{A}_5 = \frac{1}{m^4} z p_{12}^2 z p_{23}^2 z p_{31}^2. \tag{2.9}$$

The most general interaction vertex is then given by a linear combination of these structures as^3

$$\mathcal{V}_a = \frac{i}{M_{\rm Pl}} \sum_{i=1}^5 a_i \mathcal{A}_i, \qquad (2.10)$$

where a_i are dimensionless constants.

It is worth noting that the structures (2.6)–(2.9) do not directly correspond to the on-shell amplitudes generated by a fiducial basis of Lagrangian structures. For example, the amplitude from the Einstein-Hilbert cubic vertex is a linear combination of $\mathcal{A}_1, \mathcal{A}_2$ and \mathcal{A}_3 , and another linear combination is the amplitude from the 2-derivative non-gauge invariant "pseudo-linear" term of [27, 28]. This is relevant because the four-dimensional identity (2.5) in this case reads

$$4\mathcal{A}_4 - 2\mathcal{A}_2 - 2\mathcal{A}_3 + 3\mathcal{A}_1 = 0, \qquad (2.11)$$

which corresponds precisely to the vanishing of the Gauss-Bonnet term in four dimensions.⁴ We therefore see that there are actually only four linearly independent structures in D=4. For a precise translation between the structure basis we adopt here and a fiducial Lagrangian basis, see [3].

2.3 Two massive particles and one massless particle

Next we consider three-point amplitudes where two identical massive spin-2 particles and a massless spin-2 particle interact. Taking particle 3 to be the massless particle, there are six possible structures symmetric under interchanging particles 1 and 2,

• Two derivatives

$$\mathcal{B}_1 = z_{12}^2 z p_{31}^2, \tag{2.12a}$$

$$\mathcal{B}_2 = z_{12} z p_{31} \left(z_{23} z p_{12} + z_{13} z p_{23} \right), \qquad (2.12b)$$

$$\mathcal{B}_3 = (z_{23}zp_{12} + z_{13}zp_{23})^2, \tag{2.12c}$$

• Four derivatives

$$\mathcal{B}_4 = \frac{1}{m^2} z p_{12} z p_{23} z p_{31} \left(z_{23} z p_{12} + z_{13} z p_{23} \right), \qquad (2.13a)$$

$$\mathcal{B}_5 = \frac{1}{m^2} z_{12} z p_{12} z p_{23} z p_{31}^2, \tag{2.13b}$$

• Six derivatives

$$\mathcal{B}_6 = \frac{1}{m^4} z p_{12}^2 z p_{23}^2 z p_{31}^2.$$
(2.14)

³To obtain the *D*-dimensional vertices send $M_{\rm Pl} \mapsto M_{\rm Pl}^{(D-2)/2}$.

⁴Note that even though the Gauss-Bonnet term has no non-derivative terms, a part proportional to A_1 will be generated by the massive on-shell kinematics.

A general interaction vertex is a linear combination of these structures

$$\mathcal{V}_b = \frac{i}{M_{\rm Pl}} \sum_{i=1}^6 b_i \mathcal{B}_i, \qquad (2.15)$$

where b_i are dimensionless constants. In this case, the four-dimensional identity (2.5) becomes

$$2\mathcal{B}_5 + 2\mathcal{B}_4 - \mathcal{B}_3 = 0, \qquad (2.16)$$

so we see that there are only five linearly-independent such structures in D = 4.

2.4 Two massless particles and one massive particle

Next we consider the interactions between two identical massless particles and one massive particle. Taking particle 3 to be the massive particle, there are two possible structures symmetric under interchanging particles 1 and 2,

• Four derivatives

$$\mathcal{C}_{1} = \frac{1}{m^{2}} \left(m^{2} z_{12} - 2z p_{12} z p_{23} \right) \left(m^{2} z_{13} z_{23} + 2z p_{31} \left(z_{23} z p_{12} + z_{13} z p_{23} + z_{12} z p_{31} \right) \right),$$

$$(2.17)$$

• Six derivatives

$$C_2 = \frac{1}{m^4} \left(m^2 z_{12} - 2z p_{12} z p_{23} \right)^2 z p_{31}^2.$$
(2.18)

A general interaction vertex is then

$$\mathcal{V}_c = \frac{i}{M_{\rm Pl}} \sum_{i=1}^2 c_i \mathcal{C}_i, \qquad (2.19)$$

where c_i are dimensionless constants. The four-dimensional identity (2.5) in this case becomes

$$\mathcal{C}_1 = 0, \tag{2.20}$$

so that in D = 4 only the C_2 structure survives.

2.5 Three massless particles

Finally we consider the case when all three particles are identical and massless. There are three possible structures symmetric under interchange:

• Two derivatives

$$\mathcal{D}_1 = (z_{23}zp_{12} + z_{13}zp_{23} + z_{12}zp_{31})^2, \qquad (2.21)$$

• Four derivatives

$$\mathcal{D}_2 = \frac{1}{m^2} z p_{12} z p_{23} z p_{31} \left(z_{23} z p_{12} + z_{13} z p_{23} + z_{12} z p_{31} \right), \tag{2.22}$$

• Six derivatives

$$\mathcal{D}_3 = \frac{1}{m^4} z p_{12}^2 z p_{23}^2 z p_{31}^2. \tag{2.23}$$

The general interaction vertex is constructed as

$$\mathcal{V}_d = \frac{i}{M_{\rm Pl}} \sum_{i=1}^3 d_i \mathcal{D}_i, \qquad (2.24)$$

where d_i are dimensionless constants. The D = 4 identity (2.5) now implies

$$\mathcal{D}_2 = 0, \tag{2.25}$$

which corresponds to the vanishing of the Gauss-Bonnet term in four dimensions.

In the case of massless particles, there is a straightforward relation between the structures (2.21)–(2.23) and the amplitudes which arise from simple Lagrangian terms. Specifically, \mathcal{D}_1 is proportional to the Einstein-Hilbert amplitude, \mathcal{D}_2 is proportional to the Gauss-Bonnet cubic term's amplitude and \mathcal{D}_3 is proportional to the cubic amplitude arising from $R^3_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}$.

2.6 Scalar coupling

We will also be interested in the eikonal amplitude where massive and massless spin-2 particles interact with a scalar source, so we will require the cubic amplitudes involving one spin-2 particle and two scalar particles. There is a unique such vertex coupling a spin-2 particle with two identical scalars, irrespective of whether the spin-2 is massive or massless:

$$\mathcal{K} = z p_{31}^2, \tag{2.26}$$

where particle 3 has spin 2. The vertex coupling the scalar to the massless spin-2 particle is then

$$\mathcal{V}_{\kappa}^{m=0} = \frac{i}{M_{\rm Pl}} \kappa_0 \mathcal{K}, \qquad (2.27)$$

and the vertex coupling the scalar to the massive spin-2 particle is

$$\mathcal{V}_{\kappa}^{m\neq 0} = \frac{i}{M_{\rm Pl}} \kappa_m \mathcal{K},\tag{2.28}$$

where κ_0, κ_m are constants.

We could also consider cubic amplitudes involving one scalar and two spin-2 particles but these would require the exchange of a scalar in the eikonal amplitude, which is suppressed relative to spin-2 exchange at large center-of-mass energy.

2.7 S-matrix equivalence principle constraints

So far we have allowed the possible cubic amplitudes to have arbitrary coefficients. However, for cubic vertices involving massless spin-2 fields there are constraints coming from the decoupling of longitudinal polarizations in higher-point amplitudes [29]. These constraints follow from Poincaré invariance and the masslessness of the graviton and are the *S*-matrix manifestation of the equivalence principle. The requirement is that any particle that couples directly or indirectly to Einstein gravity must have a gravitational minimal coupling interaction with a universal coupling constant [30].

The S-matrix equivalence principle imposes the following constraints on the cubic couplings depending on what couplings to the massless spin-2 particle are nonzero:

- 1. When $b_1 \neq 0$ and $\kappa_0 \neq 0$ the equivalence principle implies $b_1 = \kappa_0 = d_1$,
- 2. When $b_1 \neq 0$ and $\kappa_0 = 0$ then we have $\kappa_m = 0$ and $b_1 = d_1$,
- 3. When $b_1 = 0$ and $\kappa_0 \neq 0$ then we have $b_i = \kappa_m = 0$ and $\kappa_0 = d_1$,
- 4. When $b_1 = 0$ and $\kappa_0 = 0$ then $b_i = 0$.

The second case $(b_1 \neq 0, \kappa_0 = 0)$ is when the scalar decouples from gravity, the third case $(b_1 = 0, \kappa_0 \neq 0)$ is when the massive spin-2 particle decouples from gravity, and the last case $(b_1 = \kappa_0 = 0)$ is when both decouple. In GR the usual canonically-normalized gravitational coupling corresponds to $d_1 = 2$, which can always be set by a rescaling of $M_{\rm Pl}$ if $d_1 \neq 0$.

We emphasize that the S-matrix equivalence principle constraints, although powerful, require only very weak assumptions, namely the masslessness of the graviton and Poincaré invariance. When we impose these constraints we are thus not making any assumptions beyond those already implicitly made.

3 Eikonal scattering in D = 4

The eikonal regime consists of two highly boosted particles moving approximately along orthogonal null directions in flat space. The kinematics in this situation are somewhat nonstandard, so here we describe a convenient parameterization of the momenta and a basis for the polarizations of the external particles.

3.1 Kinematics

The interactions listed in section 2 allow for mixing between massive and massless spin-2 particles on the rails of the ladder diagrams for eikonal scattering (see (3.18) below), so we need to generalize the eikonal kinematics used in [3] to allow for this. We work in lightcone coordinates (x^-, x^+, x^i) defined by

$$x^{\pm} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(x^0 \pm x^1 \right) \,. \tag{3.1}$$

In these coordinates, the Minkowski line element takes the form

$$\mathrm{d}s^2 = -2\mathrm{d}x^+\mathrm{d}x^- + \delta_{ij}x^ix^j,\tag{3.2}$$

where δ_{ij} is the 2 × 2 identity matrix.

The external momenta are given by

$$p_1^{\mu} = \left(\frac{1}{2p^+} \left(\frac{\vec{q}^2}{4} + m_1^2\right), p^+, \frac{q^i}{2}\right), \qquad p_3^{\mu} = \left(\frac{1}{2\tilde{p}^+} \left(\frac{\vec{q}^2}{4} + m_3^2\right), \tilde{p}^+, -\frac{q^i}{2}\right), \qquad (3.3a)$$

$$p_{2}^{\mu} = \left(p^{-}, \frac{1}{2p^{-}}\left(\frac{\vec{q}^{2}}{4} + m_{2}^{2}\right), -\frac{q^{i}}{2}\right), \qquad p_{4}^{\mu} = \left(\tilde{p}^{-}, \frac{1}{2\tilde{p}^{-}}\left(\frac{\vec{q}^{2}}{4} + m_{4}^{2}\right), \frac{q^{i}}{2}\right).$$
(3.3b)

Here p^+ and p^- are the independent lightcone momenta which are taken to be large in the eikonal limit, and the constants \tilde{p}^+ and \tilde{p}^- are fixed by imposing momentum conservation. There are always two solutions for \tilde{p}^+ and \tilde{p}^- consistent with momentum conservation. If all the particle masses are equal, then one solution is

$$\tilde{p}^+ = p^+, \quad \tilde{p}^- = p^-,$$
(3.4)

which gives the usual eikonal kinematics — as in [3] — and the second solution gives $p_1^{\mu} = p_4^{\mu}$ and $p_2^{\mu} = p_3^{\mu}$, which corresponds to backward scattering. When the masses are different we choose the solution that at high energies reduces to (3.4) in the limit of equal masses.⁵ The Mandelstam variables are given by

$$s = -(p_1 + p_2)^2 = \frac{\left(8p^+p^- + \vec{q}\,^2 + 4m_1^2\right)\left(8p^+p^- + \vec{q}\,^2 + 4m_2^2\right)}{32p^+p^-} \simeq 2p^+p^-, \qquad (3.5)$$

$$t = -(p_1 - p_3)^2 = -\frac{(p^+ + \tilde{p}^+)^2 \, \vec{q}^{\ 2} + 4 \, (p^+ - \tilde{p}^+) \left(p^+ m_3^2 - \tilde{p}^+ m_1^2\right)}{4p^+ \tilde{p}^+} \simeq -\vec{q}^2 \,. \tag{3.6}$$

The last expressions are their approximate form in the high energy eikonal limit where $p^+, p^- \to \infty$.

3.2 Polarizations

We also need a basis for the polarization vectors of the external particles. These are given by

$$\epsilon_{T,\lambda}^{\mu}(p_1) = \left(\frac{\vec{q} \cdot \vec{e}_{\lambda}}{2p^+}, 0, \vec{e}_{\lambda}\right), \qquad \epsilon_L^{\mu}(p_1) = \left(\frac{1}{2m_1p^+} \left(\frac{\vec{q}^2}{4} - m_1^2\right), \frac{p^+}{m_1}, \frac{q^i}{2m_1}\right), \qquad (3.7a)$$

$$\epsilon_{T,\lambda}^{\mu}(p_2) = \left(0, -\frac{\vec{q} \cdot \vec{e}_{\lambda}}{2p^-}, \vec{e}_{\lambda}\right), \quad \epsilon_L^{\mu}(p_2) = \left(\frac{p^-}{m_2}, \frac{1}{2m_2p^-}\left(\frac{\vec{q}^2}{4} - m_2^2\right), -\frac{q^i}{2m_2}\right), \quad (3.7b)$$

$$\epsilon_{T,\lambda}^{\mu}(p_3) = \left(-\frac{\vec{q} \cdot \vec{e}_{\lambda}}{2\tilde{p}^+}, 0, \vec{e}_{\lambda}\right), \quad \epsilon_L^{\mu}(p_3) = \left(\frac{1}{2m_3\tilde{p}^+} \left(\frac{\vec{q}^2}{4} - m_3^2\right), \frac{\tilde{p}^+}{m_3}, -\frac{q^i}{2m_3}\right), \quad (3.7c)$$

$$\epsilon^{\mu}_{T,\lambda}(p_4) = \left(0, \frac{\vec{q} \cdot \vec{e}_{\lambda}}{2\tilde{p}^-}, \vec{e}_{\lambda}\right), \qquad \epsilon^{\mu}_L(p_4) = \left(\frac{\tilde{p}^-}{m_4}, \frac{1}{2m_4\tilde{p}^-}\left(\frac{\vec{q}\,^2}{4} - m_4^2\right), \frac{q^i}{2m_4}\right), \qquad (3.7d)$$

where the vectors \vec{e}_{λ} form an orthonormal basis for the 2-dimensional transverse plane,

$$e_{\lambda i}e^{j}_{\lambda'} = \delta_{\lambda\lambda'}, \quad \sum_{\lambda} e^{i}_{\lambda}e^{j}_{\lambda} = \delta^{ij}.$$
 (3.8)

A convenient basis, which we will use, is to take $e_{\lambda}^{i} = \delta_{\lambda}^{i}$. The polarization vectors (3.7) are all transverse to their momenta, orthonormal, and they satisfy the completeness relation

$$\epsilon_L^{\mu}(p_a)\epsilon_L^{\nu}(p_a)^* + \sum_{\lambda} \epsilon_{T,\lambda}^{\mu}(p_a)\epsilon_{T,\lambda}^{\nu}(p_a)^* = \eta^{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{p_a^2} p_a^{\mu} p_a^{\nu}, \qquad (3.9)$$

⁵We match solutions at large energy because the equal-mass limit of one of the general solutions gives (3.4) at high energies and backward scattering at low energies, while the other general solution gives the opposite. This is possible because the equal mass solutions coincide when $s = 4m^2 + q^2$ and so the space of solutions is not smooth. We will not write out the explicit expressions for \tilde{p}^+ and \tilde{p}^- , as they are rather long and not particularly enlightening. The solution that in the equal-mass limit reduces to (3.4) at high energies is the correct one for eikonal scattering since we always work in the high-energy limit.

where a = 1, 2, 3, 4 labels the four particles.

We can use the polarization vectors (3.7) to construct polarization tensors for the external spin-2 fields. For a massive spin-2 particle we choose the polarizations given by

$$\epsilon_{T,\tilde{\lambda}}^{\mu\nu}(p_a) = \epsilon_{T,\lambda}^{\mu}(p_a)\epsilon_{T,\lambda'}^{\nu}(p_a), \qquad (3.10a)$$

$$\epsilon_{V,\lambda}^{\mu\nu}(p_a) = \frac{i}{\sqrt{2}} \left(\epsilon_{T,\lambda}^{\mu}(p_a) \epsilon_L^{\nu}(p_a) + \epsilon_L^{\mu}(p_a) \epsilon_{T,\lambda}^{\nu}(p_a) \right) , \qquad (3.10b)$$

$$\epsilon_{S}^{\mu\nu}(p_{a}) = \sqrt{\frac{3}{2}} \left[\epsilon_{L}^{\mu}(p_{a})\epsilon_{L}^{\nu}(p_{a}) - \frac{1}{3} \left(\eta^{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{p_{a}^{2}} p_{a}^{\mu} p_{a}^{\nu} \right) \right], \qquad (3.10c)$$

where T, V, and S stand for tensor, vector and scalar polarizations, respectively. In the expression for $\epsilon^{\mu\nu}_{T,\tilde{\lambda}}(p_a)$ we replace $e^i_{\lambda}e^j_{\lambda'} \mapsto e^{ij}_{\tilde{\lambda}}$, where the $e^{ij}_{\tilde{\lambda}}$ are two-tensors that form an orthonormal basis of symmetric traceless tensors,

$$e_{ij,\tilde{\lambda}}e^{ij}_{\tilde{\lambda}'} = \delta_{\tilde{\lambda}\tilde{\lambda}'}, \quad \sum_{\tilde{\lambda}} e^{ij}_{\tilde{\lambda}}e^{kl}_{\tilde{\lambda}} = \frac{1}{2} \left(\delta^{ik}\delta^{jl} + \delta^{jk}\delta^{il} - \delta^{ij}\delta^{kl} \right). \tag{3.11}$$

Explicitly, we take the two tensors to be the standard plus and cross polarizations,

$$\mathbf{e}_{\oplus} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0\\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \mathbf{e}_{\otimes} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1\\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad (3.12)$$

which means that the full tensor polarizations are

$$\epsilon_{T,\oplus}^{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(\epsilon_{T,1}^{\mu} \epsilon_{T,1}^{\nu} - \epsilon_{T,2}^{\mu} \epsilon_{T,2}^{\nu} \right), \qquad (3.13)$$

$$\epsilon_{T,\otimes}^{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(\epsilon_{T,1}^{\mu} \epsilon_{T,2}^{\nu} + \epsilon_{T,2}^{\mu} \epsilon_{T,1}^{\nu} \right).$$
(3.14)

For a massless spin-2 particle we have only these tensor polarizations.

The polarization tensors so defined are all transverse and orthonormal. Additionally they satisfy the completeness relations

$$\epsilon_{S}^{\mu\nu}(p_{a})\epsilon_{S}^{\alpha\beta}(p_{a})^{*} + \sum_{\lambda}\epsilon_{V,\lambda}^{\mu\nu}(p_{a})\epsilon_{V,\lambda}^{\alpha\beta}(p_{a})^{*} + \sum_{\tilde{\lambda}}\epsilon_{T,\tilde{\lambda}}^{\mu\nu}(p_{a})\epsilon_{T,\tilde{\lambda}}^{\alpha\beta}(p_{a})^{*}$$
$$= \frac{1}{2}\left(P^{\mu\alpha}P^{\nu\beta} + P^{\nu\alpha}P^{\mu\beta}\right) - \frac{1}{3}P^{\mu\nu}P^{\alpha\beta}, \qquad (3.15)$$

with $P_{\mu\nu} = \eta_{\mu\nu} + \frac{1}{m^2} p_{\mu} p_{\nu}$, and

$$\sum_{\tilde{\lambda}} \epsilon_{T,\tilde{\lambda}}^{\mu\nu}(p_a) \epsilon_{T,\tilde{\lambda}}^{\alpha\beta}(p_a)^* = \frac{1}{2} \left(\eta^{\mu\alpha} \eta^{\nu\beta} + \eta^{\nu\alpha} \eta^{\mu\beta} - \eta^{\mu\nu} \eta^{\alpha\beta} \right).$$
(3.16)

The right hand sides of equations (3.15) and (3.16) are the massive spin-2 and massless spin-2 (in de Donder gauge) propagator numerators, respectively.

3.3 Scalar-spin-2 eikonal scattering

After these preliminaries, we are now ready to describe the computation of the eikonal scattering amplitude. The object that we are interested in is the eikonal phase

$$\delta(s,\vec{b}) = \frac{1}{2s} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^2 \vec{q}}{(2\pi)^2} e^{-i\vec{q}\cdot\vec{b}} \mathcal{M}_4(s,-\vec{q}\,^2), \tag{3.17}$$

where $\mathcal{M}_4(s,t)$ is the tree-level *t*-channel amplitude in the eikonal limit $p^+, p^- \to \infty$. We begin by considering eikonal scattering between a scalar source particle and an admixture of massless and massive spin-2 particles, which proceeds through the exchange of both massive and massless spin-2 modes.

We take the vertices to be the general linear combinations \mathcal{V}_a , \mathcal{V}_b , \mathcal{V}_c , \mathcal{V}_d , $\mathcal{V}_{\kappa}^{m=0}$, and $\mathcal{V}_{\kappa}^{m\neq 0}$ as defined in section 2. In this section we concern ourselves with the eikonal amplitude in D = 4, which allows us to use the identity (2.5) to set $a_4 = b_4 = c_1 = d_2 = 0$ without loss of generality. (We will comment on the case D > 4 in section 5.) Altogether there are are 8 inequivalent diagrams that contribute,



A single wavy line represents a massless spin-2 particle, a double wavy line a massive spin-2 particle, and a straight solid line a scalar.

For the external polarization states for the massive particles we take a linear combination of the polarizations (3.10),

$$\epsilon_{\mu\nu}^{(m)a} = P_{a,S}\epsilon_{\mu\nu}^{a,S} + P_{a,V}\epsilon_{\mu\nu}^{a,V} + P_{a,T}\epsilon_{\mu\nu}^{a,T}, \qquad (3.19)$$

while for the massless spin-2 particle there is only tensor polarizations,

$$\epsilon^{(0)a}_{\mu\nu} = Q_{a,T} \epsilon^{a,T}_{\mu\nu}. \tag{3.20}$$

Here the P_a, Q_a are just coefficients labeling the mixture of different polarization states. It is convenient to assemble all of these polarization coefficients into a big unit-norm vector

$$\mathbf{P}_{a} = \begin{pmatrix} P_{a,S} \\ P_{a,V} \\ P_{a,T} \\ Q_{a,T} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (3.21)$$

so that a general incoming state can be thought of as an admixture of all possible massive and massless polarization states (and the same for an outgoing state). The amplitude is then a transition matrix between these vectors of polarization coefficients. A somewhat tedious computation of the t channel diagrams (3.18) in the eikonal limit yields the following form for the eikonal phase after transforming to impact parameter space:⁶

$$\delta(s,b) = \frac{\kappa_0 s}{M_{\rm Pl}^2} \mathbf{P}_3^{\rm T} \hat{\mathcal{S}}_0(\vec{e}_1, \vec{e}_3, i\vec{\partial}_b) \, \mathbf{P}_1 \frac{1}{2\pi} \log\left(\frac{L}{b}\right) + \frac{\kappa_m s}{M_{\rm Pl}^2} \mathbf{P}_3^{\rm T} \hat{\mathcal{S}}_m(\vec{e}_1, \vec{e}_3, i\vec{\partial}_b) \, \mathbf{P}_1 \frac{1}{2\pi} K_0(mb).$$
(3.23)

Here the term proportional to κ_0 comes from the diagrams with a massless spin-2 particle on the internal line and the term proportional to κ_m comes from the exchange diagrams involving a massive spin-2 particle.

The operator $\hat{\mathcal{S}}_0$ is given explicitly by

 $\hat{\mathcal{S}}_{0} = \tag{3.24}$ $\begin{pmatrix} \frac{b_{1}}{2} & \frac{c_{0}^{0}}{m} e_{1}^{i} \partial_{bi} & \frac{c_{0}^{0}}{m} e_{1}^{i} \partial_{bi}^{2} & \frac{c_{0}^{0}}{m^{2}} e_{1}^{ij} \partial_{bij}^{2} & \frac{-c_{2}}{\sqrt{6m^{2}}} e_{1}^{ij} \partial_{bij}^{2} \\ \frac{c_{0}^{0}}{m} e_{3}^{i} \partial_{bi} & \frac{b_{1}}{2} \vec{e}_{1} \cdot \vec{e}_{3} + \frac{c_{0}^{0}}{m^{2}} \vec{e}_{1} \cdot \vec{o}_{b} \vec{e}_{3} \cdot \vec{o}_{b} & \frac{c_{1}^{0}}{m^{2}} e_{1}^{ij} e_{3}^{i} \partial_{bj} + \frac{b_{5}}{2\sqrt{2m^{3}}} e_{1}^{ij} e_{3}^{k} \partial_{bijk}^{3} & \frac{\sqrt{2c_{2}}}{m^{3}} e_{1}^{ij} e_{3}^{k} \partial_{bijk}^{3} \\ \frac{c_{0}^{0}}{m^{2}} e_{3}^{ij} \partial_{bij}^{2} & \frac{c_{1}^{0}}{m} e_{3}^{ij} e_{1}^{i} \partial_{bj} + \frac{b_{5}}{2\sqrt{2m^{3}}} e_{3}^{ij} e_{1}^{k} \partial_{bijk}^{3} & \frac{b_{1}}{2} e_{1}^{ij} e_{3}^{ij} + \frac{b_{5}}{2m^{2}} e_{1}^{ij} e_{3}^{k} \partial_{bik}^{2} + \frac{b_{6}}{2m^{4}} e_{1}^{ij} e_{3}^{k} \partial_{bijk}^{k} & \frac{2c_{2}}{m^{4}} e_{1}^{ij} e_{3}^{k} \partial_{bijk}^{k} & \frac{d_{1}}{2} e_{1}^{ij} e_{3}^{ij} + \frac{d_{3}}{2m^{4}} e_{1}^{ij} e_{3}^{k} \partial_{bijk}^{k} \\ \frac{-c_{2}}{\sqrt{6m^{2}}} e_{3}^{ij} \partial_{bij}^{2} & \frac{\sqrt{2c_{2}}}{m^{3}} e_{1}^{ij} e_{3}^{k} \partial_{bijk}^{k} & \frac{2c_{2}}{m^{4}} e_{1}^{ij} e_{3}^{k} \partial_{bijk}^{k} & \frac{d_{1}}{2} e_{1}^{ij} e_{3}^{ij} + \frac{d_{3}}{2m^{4}} e_{1}^{ij} e_{3}^{k} \partial_{bijk}^{k} \\ \frac{-c_{2}}{m^{4}} e_{1}^{ij} e_{3}^{ij} \partial_{bijk}^{2} & \frac{2c_{2}}{m^{4}} e_{1}^{ij} e_{3}^{k} \partial_{bijk}^{k} & \frac{d_{1}}{2} e_{1}^{ij} e_{3}^{ij} + \frac{d_{3}}{2m^{4}} e_{1}^{ij} e_{3}^{k} \partial_{bijk}^{k} \\ \frac{-c_{2}}{m^{4}} e_{3}^{ij} \partial_{bijk}^{k} & \frac{d_{1}}{2} e_{1}^{ij} e_{3}^{ij} + \frac{d_{3}}{2m^{4}} e_{1}^{ij} e_{3}^{k} \partial_{bijk}^{k} \\ \frac{-c_{2}}{m^{4}} e_{3}^{ij} \partial_{bijk}^{k} & \frac{d_{1}}{2} e_{1}^{ij} e_{3}^{ij} + \frac{d_{3}}{2m^{4}} e_{1}^{ij} e_{3}^{k} \partial_{bijk}^{k} \\ \frac{-c_{2}}}{m^{4}} e_{3}^{ij} \partial_{bijk}^{k} & \frac{d_{1}}{2} e_{1}^{ij} e_{3}^{ij} + \frac{d_{3}}{2m^{4}} e_{1}^{ij} e_{3}^{k} \partial_{bijk}^{k} \\ \frac{-c_{2}}}{m^{4}} e_{1}^{ij} e_{3}^{ij} e_{3}^{ij} e_{3}^{k} & \frac{d_{1}}{2} e_{1}^{ij} e_{3}^{ij} e_{3}^{k} \partial_{bijk}^{k} \\ \frac{-c_{2}}}{m^{4}} e_{1}^{ij} e_{3}^{ij} e_{3}^{ij} e_{3}^{ij} e_{3}^{ij} e_{3}^{k} \partial_{bijk}^{k} \\ \frac{-c_{2}}}{m^{4}} e_{1}^{ij} e_{3}^{ij} e_{3}^{k} e_{0$

where we have defined $\partial_{b^{i_1\cdots i_n}}^n \equiv \partial_{b^{i_1}}\cdots \partial_{b^{i_n}}$, and the various constants that appear in the matrix are

$$\mathcal{C}_{SV}^{0} = -\frac{\sqrt{3}}{4}(2b_1 - b_2), \qquad \qquad \mathcal{C}_{ST}^{0} = -\frac{1}{2\sqrt{6}}(2b_1 - 2b_2 + 2b_3 + b_5), \qquad (3.25a)$$

$$\mathcal{C}_{VV}^{0} = \frac{2b_1 - 2b_2 + 2b_3 + b_5}{4}, \qquad \mathcal{C}_{TV}^{0} = \frac{2b_1 - b_2}{2\sqrt{2}}.$$
(3.25b)

The operator $\hat{\mathcal{S}}_m$ is given by

$$\mathcal{S}_{m} = \\ \begin{pmatrix} C_{SS}^{m} & \frac{C_{SV}^{m}}{m} e_{1}^{i} \partial_{b}^{i} & \frac{C_{ST}^{m}}{m} e_{1}^{i} \partial_{b}^{2}_{ij} & \frac{C_{SQ}^{m}}{m^{2}} e_{1}^{ij} \partial_{b}^{2}_{jj} \\ \frac{C_{SV}^{m}}{m} e_{3}^{i} \partial_{b}^{i} & C_{VV1}^{m} \vec{e}_{1} \cdot \vec{e}_{3} + \frac{C_{V2}^{m}}{m^{2}} \vec{e}_{1} \cdot \vec{\partial}_{b} \vec{e}_{3} \cdot \vec{\partial}_{b} & \frac{C_{TV}^{m}}{m} e_{1}^{ij} e_{3}^{i} \partial_{bj} + \frac{a_{5}}{2\sqrt{2m^{3}}} e_{1}^{ij} e_{3}^{k} \partial_{b}^{3}_{jkk} & \frac{C_{QV1}}{m} e_{1}^{ij} e_{3}^{i} \partial_{bj} + \frac{C_{QV2}^{Q}}{m^{2}} e_{1}^{ij} e_{3}^{k} \partial_{b}^{3}_{jkk} \\ \frac{C_{TT}^{m}}{m^{2}} e_{3}^{ij} \partial_{b}^{ij} & \frac{C_{TV}^{m}}{m} e_{3}^{i} e_{1}^{i} \partial_{bj} + \frac{a_{5}}{2\sqrt{2m^{3}}} e_{1}^{ij} e_{3}^{k} \partial_{b}^{3}_{bijk} & \frac{2}{2} e_{1}^{ij} e_{3}^{ij} + \frac{a_{5}}{2\sqrt{2m^{3}}} e_{1}^{ij} e_{3}^{k} \partial_{b}^{3}_{bijk} & \frac{2}{2} e_{1}^{ij} e_{3}^{ij} \partial_{b}^{ij} + \frac{a_{5}}{2\sqrt{2m^{3}}} e_{1}^{ij} e_{3}^{k} \partial_{b}^{4}_{bijkl} & \frac{b_{3}}{2} e_{1}^{ij} e_{3}^{ij} + \frac{b_{6}}{2m^{4}} e_{1}^{ij} e_{3}^{k} \partial_{b}^{4}_{bijkl} & \frac{b_{3}}{2} e_{1}^{ij} e_{3}^{ij} + \frac{b_{6}}{2m^{4}} e_{1}^{ij} e_{3}^{k} \partial_{b}^{ij}_{bijkl} & \frac{b_{2}}{2} e_{3}^{ij} e_{1}^{ij} - \frac{2c_{2}}{m^{2}} e_{3}^{ij} e_{1}^{j} \partial_{b}^{ij} + \frac{2c_{2}}{m^{4}} e_{1}^{ij} e_{3}^{k} \partial_{b}^{ij}_{bijkl} & \frac{c_{2}}{2} e_{3}^{ij} e_{1}^{ij} - \frac{2c_{2}}{m^{2}} e_{3}^{ij} e_{1}^{ij} \partial_{b}^{ij} + \frac{2c_{2}}{m^{4}} e_{1}^{ij} e_{3}^{k} \partial_{b}^{ij}_{bijkl} & \frac{c_{2}}{2} e_{3}^{ij} e_{1}^{ij} - \frac{2c_{2}}{m^{2}} e_{3}^{ij} e_{1}^{ij} \partial_{b}^{ij} e_{1}^{k} + \frac{c_{3}}{2} e_{3}^{ij} e_{1}^{k} \partial_{b}^{ij}_{bijkl} & \frac{c_{2}}{m^{4}} e_{1}^{ij} e_{3}^{ij} \partial_{b}^{ij} + \frac{2c_{2}}{m^{4}} e_{1}^{ij} e_{3}^{k} \partial_{b}^{ij} e_{1}^{k} + \frac{c_{2}}{m^{4}} e_{1}^{ij} e_{3}^{k} \partial_{b}^{ij}_{bijkl} & \frac{c_{2}}{m^{4}} e_{1}^{ij} e_{3}^{ij} e_{1}^{ij} - \frac{2c_{2}}{m^{4}} e_{1}^{ij} e_{1}^{ij} \partial_{b}^{ij} e_{1}^{k} e_{3}^{ij} e_{1}^{k} \partial_{b}^{ij}_{bijkl} & \frac{c_{2}}{m^{4}} e_{1}^{ij} e_{1}^{ij} e_{1}^{ij} e_{1}^{ij} e_{3}^{ij} e_{1}^{k} e_{3}^{ij} e_{1}^{k} e_{3}^{ij} e_{1}^{k} e_{3}^{ij} e_{1}^{ij} e_{3}^{ij} e_{1}^{ij} e_{3}^{ij} e_{1}^{ij} e_{3}^{ij} e_{1}^{ij} e_{3}^{ij} e_{1}^$$

with coefficients

ĉ

$$\mathcal{C}_{SS}^{m} = \frac{1}{16} \left(8a_1 + 28a_2 - 12a_3 + 3a_5 \right), \quad \mathcal{C}_{SV}^{m} = -\frac{1}{8\sqrt{3}} \left(4a_1 + 20a_2 - 10a_3 + 3a_5 \right), \quad (3.26a)$$

$$\mathcal{C}_{ST}^{m} = \frac{1}{4\sqrt{6}} \left(4a_3 - 8a_2 - 3a_5 \right), \qquad \mathcal{C}_{SQ}^{m} = \frac{1}{2\sqrt{6}} \left(2b_2 - 2b_1 - 2b_3 + 2b_5 - 3b_6 \right), \quad (3.26b)$$

$$C_{VV_1}^m = \frac{a_1 + 3a_2 - a_3}{4}, \qquad C_{VV_2}^m = \frac{2a_2 - a_3 + a_5}{4}, \qquad (3.26c)$$

$$\mathcal{C}_{TV}^{m} = \frac{2a_2 - a_3}{2\sqrt{2}}, \qquad \qquad \mathcal{C}_{QV_1}^{m} = -\frac{b_2 - 2b_3}{2\sqrt{2}}, \qquad (3.26d)$$

$$\mathcal{C}_{QV_2}^m = -\frac{b_5 - 2b_6}{2\sqrt{2}}.$$
(3.26e)

⁶The Fourier transform with respect to the momentum transfer, \vec{q} requires the following formulae:

$$\int \frac{\mathrm{d}^2 \vec{q}}{(2\pi)^2} \frac{e^{-i\vec{q}\cdot\vec{b}}}{\vec{q}^2 + m^2} = \frac{1}{2\pi} K_0(mb), \quad \text{and} \quad \int \frac{\mathrm{d}^2 \vec{q}}{(2\pi)^2} \frac{e^{-i\vec{q}\cdot\vec{b}}}{\vec{q}^2} = \frac{1}{2\pi} \log\left(\frac{L}{b}\right), \quad (3.22)$$

where $K_0(mb)$ is the Bessel-K function of order 0 and L is an IR regulator.

The goal now is to place constraints on the a_i, b_i, c_i and d_i coefficients by demanding that the eikonal phase, δ , is positive for all impact parameters and all choices of polarizations for the external particles. The amplitude written in the form (3.23) makes manifest that once we have chosen an explicit basis for the polarizations, the amplitude is then a 7×7 matrix corresponding to the 5 + 2 possible polarization states for the incoming and outgoing spin-2 particles. The phase shifts come from diagonalizing this matrix, and it is these eigenvalues which must be non-negative. A convenient way to organize the calculation is to enforce positivity of the phase shift order-by-order in the limit of small impact parameter.

The precise form of the amplitude at each order is not particularly enlightening, so we just quote the parameter constraints. The leading contributions to the phases in the small b limit are of order b^{-4} . The phases at this order come from diagonalizing a matrix that depends on the couplings from the six-derivative spin-2 vertices, a_5 , b_6 , d_3 , c_2 , as well as the scalar couplings, κ_0 and κ_m . This matrix has a vanishing trace and hence the sum of eigenvalues vanishes. The eigenvalues can then only have the same sign if they all vanish, which means the matrix itself vanishes since it is symmetric. This gives the simple constraints

$$b_6\kappa_0 + a_5\kappa_m = 0, \tag{3.27a}$$

$$4c_2\kappa_0 + b_6\kappa_m = 0, \qquad (3.27b)$$

$$d_3\kappa_0 + 4c_2\kappa_m = 0. \tag{3.27c}$$

Similarly, at order b^{-3} we obtain the constraints

$$b_5\kappa_0 + a_5\kappa_m = 0, \tag{3.28a}$$

$$-4c_2\kappa_0 + (b_5 - 2b_6)\kappa_m = 0. \tag{3.28b}$$

At order b^{-2} the constraints are

$$2(2b_1 - 2b_2 + 2b_3 + b_5)\kappa_0 + (8a_2 - 4a_3 + 3a_5)\kappa_m = 0, \qquad (3.29a)$$

$$(2b_1 - 2b_2 + 2b_3 + b_5)\kappa_0 + (2a_2 - a_3 + a_5)\kappa_m = 0, \qquad (3.29b)$$

$$2c_2\kappa_0 + (2b_1 - 2b_2 + 2b_3 - 2b_5 + 3b_6)\kappa_m = 0, \qquad (3.29c)$$

$$a_5\kappa_m = b_6\kappa_m = c_2\kappa_m = 0. \tag{3.29d}$$

Lastly, at order b^{-1} we get the constraints

$$6(2b_1 - b_2)\kappa_0 + (4a_1 + 20a_2 - 10a_3 + 3a_5)\kappa_m = 0, \qquad (3.30a)$$

$$(-2b_1 + b_2)\kappa_0 + (-2a_2 + a_3 - a_5)\kappa_m = 0, \qquad (3.30b)$$

$$(-2b_1 + b_2)\kappa_0 + (-2a_2 + a_3)\kappa_m = 0, \qquad (3.30c)$$

$$(b_2 - 2b_3)\kappa_m = (b_2 - 2b_3 + b_5 - 2b_6)\kappa_m = 0.$$
(3.30d)

There are various solutions to these sets of constraints depending on whether or not the scalar couplings, κ_0 and κ_m , vanish:

- 1. The trivial case $\kappa_0 = \kappa_m = 0$ does not constrain the spin-2 couplings since there is no scattering.⁷
- 2. The case $\kappa_0 = 0$ with $\kappa_m \neq 0$ which means the scalar does not couple to the massless spin-2 particle has the solution

$$a_1 = a_5 = b_5 = b_6 = c_2 = 0, (3.31a)$$

$$a_3 = 2a_2,$$
 (3.31b)

$$2b_1 = 2b_3 = b_2. \tag{3.31c}$$

In this case the S-matrix equivalence principle requires that the massive spin-2 particle also does not couple to massless spin-2 particle (since we have assumed $\kappa_m \neq 0$ so the scalar *does* couple to the massive spin-2 particle), so we must additionally have $b_i = 0$. The resulting constraints are then equivalent to those found in [3] for an isolated massive spin-2 particle.

3. The case $\kappa_m = 0$ and $\kappa_0 \neq 0$ — which means the scalar does not couple to the massive spin-2 particle — has the solution

$$b_5 = b_6 = 0 = c_2 = d_3 = 0, (3.32a)$$

$$2b_1 = 2b_3 = b_2. (3.32b)$$

The a_i couplings are unconstrained by this process since the vertex \mathcal{V}_a does not contribute to the amplitude in this case. Substituting these constraints into the general expression for the vertices in the theory, we find that there are two allowed couplings: one which couples 3 massless particles, and one which couples two massive particles with a massless spin-2 particle. Interestingly, both surviving constrained vertices take the Einstein-Hilbert form,

$$\mathcal{V}_b = \frac{ib_1}{M_{\rm Pl}} \left(z_{23} z p_{12} + z_{13} z p_{23} + z_{12} z p_{31} \right)^2, \qquad (3.33)$$

$$\mathcal{V}_d = \frac{id_1}{M_{\rm Pl}} \left(z_{23} z p_{12} + z_{13} z p_{23} + z_{12} z p_{31} \right)^2.$$
(3.34)

The S-matrix equivalence principle requires that $b_1 = d_1 = \kappa_0$. We can further fix $d_1 = 2$ by canonically normalizing $M_{\rm Pl}$, leaving no free parameters beyond $M_{\rm Pl}$.

4. The last case is where we have both $\kappa_0 \neq 0$ and $\kappa_m \neq 0$, which has the solution

$$a_1 = a_5 = b_5 = b_6 = c_2 = d_3 = 0, (3.35a)$$

$$a_3 = 2a_2,$$
 (3.35b)

$$2b_1 = 2b_3 = b_2. (3.35c)$$

The difference with the previous case is that there is now also a coupling between 3 massive spin-2 particles. The surviving vertices all take the Einstein-Hilbert

⁷Of course, there will still be constraints on the various couplings coming from other processes.

form: (3.33), (3.34), and

$$\mathcal{V}_a = \frac{ia_2}{M_{\rm Pl}} \left(z_{23} z p_{12} + z_{13} z p_{23} + z_{12} z p_{31} \right)^2.$$
(3.36)

Again, the S-matrix equivalence principle requires $b_1 = d_1 = \kappa_0$, and we can further fix $d_1 = 2$ by canonically normalizing M_{Pl} . This leaves two free parameters: a_2 and κ_m .

After solving the constraints (3.27)–(3.30), we still have to check that the remaining phase shifts are positive in the non-trivial cases.

• For the case $\kappa_0 = 0$, $\kappa_m \neq 0$, the remaining phase shifts are

$$\delta_{S,V} = a_2 \frac{\kappa_m s}{32\pi M_{\rm Pl}^2} K_0(bm), \qquad (3.37a)$$

$$\delta_T = \left(a_2 \pm \sqrt{a_2^2 + 4b_1^2}\right) \frac{\kappa_m s}{32\pi M_{\rm Pl}^2} K_0(bm), \qquad (3.37b)$$

where $\delta_{S,V}$ is the phase shift for both the scalar and vector modes, while δ_T is the phase shift for the tensor modes. Since $b_1^2 \ge 0$, some of these are negative unless $b_1 = 0$. This is the same constraint that the S-matrix equivalence principle would impose. The remaining phase shifts are then all non-negative for $\kappa_m a_2 \ge 0$, as found in [3].

• In the case $\kappa_m = 0, \ \kappa_0 \neq 0$, the final phase shifts are

$$\delta = \frac{\kappa_0 s}{16\pi M_{\rm Pl}^2} \log\left(\frac{L}{b}\right) \times (b_1 \text{ or } d_1), \qquad (3.38)$$

for all polarizations, where L is an IR regulator. These are positive for $\kappa_0 b_1 > 0$ and $\kappa_0 d_1 > 0$, as guaranteed by the S-matrix equivalence principle constraint $b_1 = d_1 = \kappa_0$.

• For the final case $\kappa_0 \neq 0$ and $\kappa_m \neq 0$, the general form of the phase-shifts is a bit complicated but after imposing the S-matrix equivalence principle constraints, $b_1 = d_1 = \kappa_0$, we get

$$\delta_{S,V} = \frac{s}{32\pi M_{\rm Pl}^2} \left[2b_1^2 \log\left(\frac{L}{b}\right) + a_2 \kappa_m K_0(bm) \right], \qquad (3.39a)$$

$$\delta_T = \frac{s}{32\pi M_{\rm Pl}^2} \left[2b_1^2 \log\left(\frac{L}{b}\right) + \left(a_2 \pm \sqrt{a_2^2 + 4b_1^2}\right) \kappa_m K_0(bm) \right].$$
(3.39b)

The $\delta_{S,V}$ phase-shifts comes from the scalar and vector modes, which are each diagonal. The δ_T phase-shifts come from the tensor modes of the massive and massless spin-2 particles, which are mixed. The terms in square brackets have the general form

$$AK_0(bm) - 2b_1^2 \log(bm) + 2b_1^2 \log(Lm), \qquad (3.40)$$

where A is some combination of coupling constants. In the limit $bm \to 0$ this becomes

$$(-A - 2b_1^2)\log(bm) + \log 2 - \gamma_{\rm E} + 2b_1^2\log(Lm) + \dots, \qquad (3.41)$$



Figure 1. Plot of the allowed parameters that satisfy the inequalities (3.42).

which divergences like $\log(bm)$, i.e., a negative phase shift at small b, unless $A \ge -2b_1^2$. The total phase shift still has the wrong sign for large bm, but the difference between this and the GR result can be made arbitrarily small by increasing Lm. The condition $A \ge -2b_1^2$ in (3.39) gives

$$2b_1^2 + \kappa_m \left(a_2 \pm \sqrt{a_2^2 + 4b_1^2} \right) \ge 0. \tag{3.42}$$

These conditions are automatically satisfied when we turn off the scalar coupling to the massive spin-2 particle, $\kappa_m \to 0$, which is consistent with (3.38). We can use the freedom to rescale the Planck mass to fix $b_1 = 2$, after which the remaining inequalities define an allowed two-dimensional region, which we plot in figure 1. In section 4 we will discuss how this constrains matter couplings in ghost-free bi-gravity.

3.4 Spin-2-spin-2 eikonal scattering

We now consider the eikonal scattering between massive and massless spin-2 particles where all external legs have spin 2 in D = 4. There are $2^5 = 32$ different diagrams that contribute to this amplitude, since each of the four external legs and the internal line can be either massive or massless. As a result the computation is substantially more intricate, but the final result can be phrased fairly simply in terms of the ingredients we have already introduced:

$$\delta(s,b) = \frac{s}{M_{\rm Pl}^2} \mathbf{P}_{3,4}^{\rm T} \hat{\mathcal{S}}_0(\vec{e}_1, \vec{e}_3, i\vec{\partial}_b) \otimes \hat{\mathcal{S}}_0(\vec{e}_2, \vec{e}_4, -i\vec{\partial}_b) \mathbf{P}_{1,2} \frac{1}{2\pi} \log\left(\frac{L}{b}\right) + \frac{s}{M_{\rm Pl}^2} \mathbf{P}_{3,4}^{\rm T} \hat{\mathcal{S}}_m(\vec{e}_1, \vec{e}_3, i\vec{\partial}_b) \otimes \hat{\mathcal{S}}_m(\vec{e}_2, \vec{e}_4, -i\vec{\partial}_b) \mathbf{P}_{1,2} \frac{1}{2\pi} K_0(mb).$$
(3.43)

Here \hat{S}_0 and \hat{S}_m are the same matrices defined in section 3.3 and the polarization information is now carried by $\mathbf{P}_{a,b} \equiv \mathbf{P}_a \otimes \mathbf{P}_b$ which is a tensor product of the vectors of coefficients for the top and bottom vertices. The fact that our result can be written in the form (3.43) is a nontrivial check of our calculation.

Going through a similar procedure to that described in section 3.3, we find that the leading contributions in the limit of small impact parameter start at order b^{-8} . Constraining the phase shifts to be positive all the way through to order b^{-1} reproduces the constraints (3.35) that we found when both particles coupled to matter. This is not unexpected since the spin-2-scalar process should be captured by the more general process considered here after averaging over the polarizations of the lower half of the diagram.

If we impose the S-matrix equivalence principle constraint that $d_1 = b_1$, then the remaining phase-shifts are given by

$$\delta = \frac{s}{32\pi M_{\rm Pl}^2} \left[2b_1^2 \log\left(\frac{L}{b}\right) + AK_0(bm) \right],\tag{3.44}$$

where A is one of the following combinations of the coupling constants:

$$A = \begin{cases} -2b_1^2, \\ \frac{a_2^2}{2}, \\ \frac{1}{2} \left(a_2^2 \pm a_2 \sqrt{a_2^2 + 4b_1^2} \right), \\ a_2^2 + 2b_1^2 \pm a_2 \sqrt{a_2^2 + 4b_1^2}. \end{cases}$$
(3.45)

These come from diagonalizing a 49×49 matrix with lots of off-diagonal terms. As discussed earlier, we impose the requirement $A \ge -2b_1^2$. The first phase shift saturates this constraint, so this theory is only marginally consistent with asymptotic subluminality. All of the other phase shifts automatically satisfy this constraint as well, so we see that there are no further constraints beyond (3.35). This is similar to what happens for massless [1] or massive [2, 3] spin-2 particles in isolation: the shockwave amplitude happens to capture all the parameter constraints required for the theory to be asymptotically subluminal.

To summarize, we find that it is possible to couple D = 4 Einstein gravity to a massive spin-2 particle and still satisfy the constraints that follow from forbidding asymptotic superluminality. This requires the vanishing of the cubic vertices involving two massless gravitons and a massive spin-2 particle, $\mathcal{V}_c = 0$, as already shown in [1]. Moreover, the remaining interaction vertices must take the Einstein-Hilbert form,

$$\mathcal{V}_a = \frac{ia_2}{M_{\rm Pl}} \left(z_{23} z p_{12} + z_{13} z p_{23} + z_{12} z p_{31} \right)^2, \tag{3.46}$$

$$\mathcal{V}_b = \frac{ib_1}{M_{\rm Pl}} \left(z_{23} z p_{12} + z_{13} z p_{23} + z_{12} z p_{31} \right)^2, \qquad (3.47)$$

$$\mathcal{V}_d = \frac{ib_1}{M_{\rm Pl}} \left(z_{23} z p_{12} + z_{13} z p_{23} + z_{12} z p_{31} \right)^2, \qquad (3.48)$$

where we have used the S-matrix equivalence principle to match the coefficients of \mathcal{V}_b and \mathcal{V}_d . The coupling of the massive spin-2 particle to a scalar is further constrained by the conditions (3.42). We see that there is a recurring theme that the Einstein-Hilbert on-shell cubic amplitude is the only possible structure consistent with positivity of the eikonal phase, so it is tempting to speculate that this observation would continue to be true with the addition of further massive spin-2 particles. That is, it seems that the only couplings allowed between spin-2 particles are of the Einstein-Hilbert form at cubic order.

4 Shockwaves and Shapiro delay in ghost-free bi-gravity

In General Relativity, the Shapiro time delay experienced by a particle passing by a massive object can be computed by considering the particle's propagation in a shockwave background given by the Aichelburg-Sexl metric [31, 32]. This delay was shown to be equivalent to that determined by the eikonal scattering calculation in [18]. We would therefore like to match the eikonal scattering results we have obtained to a shockwave calculation.⁸

Here we consider a particular bimetric theory that can be trusted in the classical nonlinear regime, making the computation particularly convenient, though there should be no obstruction to performing the same computation in an arbitrary theory. The result will in fact only depend on the cubic vertices of the theory, in agreement with the eikonal calculation. We consider the analogue of the Shapiro time delay calculated in a shockwave background for this theory, and we find that it identically reproduces the results of the eikonal scattering, as expected. We also find that, in the formulation of the classical non-linear bi-gravity theory, the constraint on the cubic self-coupling picks out the unique bi-gravity theory with a \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry.

4.1 Ghost-free bi-gravity

The non-linear ghost-free bi-gravity theory [6] is an extension of dRGT massive gravity [9] that describes two interacting spin-2 particles — one massive and one massless — and no additional degrees of freedom. The theory is formulated using two metrics, $g_{\mu\nu}$ and $f_{\mu\nu}$, each with their own Einstein-Hilbert kinetic term and a zero-derivative potential term which mixes the two metrics. The form of the potential term guarantees the absence of ghosts in the classical theory and in the low energy effective quantum theory. In D = 4, the ghost-free bi-gravity Lagrangian takes the following form:

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{M_g^2}{2}\sqrt{-g}R(g) + \frac{M_f^2}{2}\sqrt{-f}R(f) - m^2 M_*^2 \sqrt{-g} \sum_{n=0}^4 \beta_n S_n\left(\sqrt{g^{-1}f}\right) \,. \tag{4.1}$$

⁸The analogous computation in massive gravity has been done in [2, 3].

The S_n are the *n*-th elementary symmetric polynomials of the eigenvalues of the matrix square root $\mathbb{X}^{\mu}_{\ \nu} \equiv \sqrt{g^{\mu\lambda}f_{\lambda\nu}}$. They are given by

$$S_{0}(\mathbb{X}) = 1,$$

$$S_{1}(\mathbb{X}) = [\mathbb{X}],$$

$$S_{2}(\mathbb{X}) = \frac{1}{2}([\mathbb{X}]^{2} - [\mathbb{X}^{2}]),$$

$$S_{3}(\mathbb{X}) = \frac{1}{3!}([\mathbb{X}]^{3} - 3[\mathbb{X}][\mathbb{X}^{2}] + 2[\mathbb{X}^{3}]),$$

$$S_{4}(\mathbb{X}) = \frac{1}{4!}([\mathbb{X}]^{4} - 6[\mathbb{X}]^{2}[\mathbb{X}^{2}] + 3[\mathbb{X}^{2}]^{2} + 8[\mathbb{X}][\mathbb{X}^{3}] - 6[\mathbb{X}^{4}]),$$
(4.2)

where the square brackets denote the trace of the enclosed matrix.

There are two mass scales M_g and M_f , along with the graviton mass m. The effective mass, M_* , is defined as

$$M_* \equiv \left(\frac{1}{M_g^2} + \frac{1}{M_f^2}\right)^{-1/2} . \tag{4.3}$$

The β_n are free coefficients.

If we expand both metrics around the same flat spacetime, then the requirement of no tadpoles for each metric gives two conditions on the β_n ,

$$\beta_0 + 3\beta_1 + 3\beta_2 + \beta_3 = 0, \qquad (4.4)$$

$$\beta_1 + 3\beta_2 + 3\beta_3 + \beta_4 = 0. \tag{4.5}$$

After imposing this condition, demanding that the parameter m^2 is the correctly normalized mass for the massive spin-2 particle requires

$$\beta_1 + 2\beta_2 + \beta_3 = 1. \tag{4.6}$$

These three conditions mean that, of the five β_n , there are only two free parameters. These two parameters are often written as c_3 and d_5 (see, e.g., [8]), where c_3 parametrizes cubic interactions in the potential and d_5 parametrizes quartic interactions in the potential. All higher-order interactions in the potential are fixed after specifying c_3 and d_5 . The β_n can be written in terms of c_3 , d_5 as

$$\beta_0 = 48d_5 + 24c_3 - 6, \tag{4.7a}$$

$$\beta_1 = -48d_5 - 18c_3 + 3, \tag{4.7b}$$

$$\beta_2 = 48d_5 + 12c_3 - 1, \tag{4.7c}$$

$$\beta_3 = -48d_5 - 6c_3, \tag{4.7d} \beta_4 = 48d_5. \tag{4.7e}$$

$$\beta_4 = 48d_5. \tag{4.7e}$$

When the β_n satisfy $\beta_4 = \beta_0$ and $\beta_3 = \beta_1$, the ghost-free bi-gravity theory enjoys a \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry under the interchange of $g_{\mu\nu} \leftrightarrow f_{\mu\nu}$ and $M_g \leftrightarrow M_f$. From the above expression (4.7) we see that this occurs precisely when $c_3 = 1/4$. The parameter d_5 is left unspecified by this requirement.

4.2 Cubic vertices of ghost-free bi-gravity

In order to connect to the eikonal computation, we need the cubic vertices that couple the massive and massless particles in bi-gravity. Importantly, the $g_{\mu\nu}$ and $f_{\mu\nu}$ metrics are *not* mass eigenstates of the bi-gravity theory. If we expand both metrics around the flat background,

$$g_{\mu\nu} = \eta_{\mu\nu} + \frac{2}{M_g} h_{\mu\nu} \,,$$
 (4.8a)

$$f_{\mu\nu} = \eta_{\mu\nu} + \frac{2}{M_f} k_{\mu\nu} ,$$
 (4.8b)

then we find that the mass eigenstates are given by the linear combinations [6]

$$\frac{u_{\mu\nu}}{M_*} = \frac{h_{\mu\nu}}{M_f} + \frac{k_{\mu\nu}}{M_g}, \qquad (4.9a)$$

$$\frac{v_{\mu\nu}}{M_*} = \frac{h_{\mu\nu}}{M_g} - \frac{k_{\mu\nu}}{M_f},$$
(4.9b)

so that the quadratic Lagrangian takes the form⁹

$$\mathcal{L}^{(2)} = u_{\mu\nu}\hat{\mathcal{E}}^{\mu\nu\alpha\beta}u_{\alpha\beta} + v_{\mu\nu}\hat{\mathcal{E}}^{\mu\nu\alpha\beta}v_{\alpha\beta} - \frac{m^2}{2}\left(v_{\mu\nu}v^{\mu\nu} - v^{\mu}_{\ \mu}v^{\nu}_{\ \nu}\right). \tag{4.11}$$

The fluctuation $u_{\mu\nu}$ is the massless spin-2 field and $v_{\mu\nu}$ is the massive spin-2 field. We recover dRGT massive gravity in the limit that $M_f \to \infty$. This gives $M_* \to M_g$, $u_{\mu\nu} \to k_{\mu\nu}$ and $v_{\mu\nu} \to h_{\mu\nu}$. The massless $f_{\mu\nu}$ metric decouples and we are left with the massive $g_{\mu\nu}$ metric.

If we expand the ghost-free bi-gravity Lagrangian (4.1) to cubic order and use the mass eigenstates (4.9) we find the following four terms in the on-shell cubic Lagrangian:

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{on-shell}}^{(3)} = \frac{M_*}{M_g M_f} \mathcal{L}_{EH}^{(3)}(u) + \left(\frac{M_*}{M_g^2} - \frac{M_*}{M_f^2}\right) \mathcal{L}_{EH}^{(3)}(v) + \frac{M_*}{M_g M_f} \mathcal{L}^{(3)}(u\nabla v\nabla v) - m^2 \left[\frac{M_*}{M_g^2} \left(2c_3 - \frac{3}{2}\right) + \frac{M_*}{M_f^2} \left(2c_3 + \frac{1}{2}\right)\right] v_{\mu\nu}^3.$$
(4.12)

Both the massless u field and massive v field have an Einstein-Hilbert cubic vertex with different coefficients; there is also a two-derivative term containing one massless and two massive spin-2 particles. The coefficients of all three of these interactions are completely fixed once the mass scales have been chosen. Finally, there is also a cubic potential for the massive spin-2 particle, with a free coefficient parameterized by c_3 . The corresponding

$$\hat{\mathcal{E}}^{\mu\nu\alpha\beta}X_{\alpha\beta} = -\frac{1}{2}\left(\Box X^{\mu\nu} - 2\partial^{(\mu}\partial_{\rho}X^{\nu)\rho} + \partial^{\mu}\partial^{\nu}X - \eta^{\mu\nu}\Box X + \eta^{\mu\nu}\partial_{\rho}\partial_{\lambda}X^{\rho\lambda}\right).$$
(4.10)

⁹Here $\hat{\mathcal{E}}^{\mu\nu\alpha\beta}$ is the Lichnerowicz operator, which acts on symmetric tensors, $X_{\mu\nu}$, as

on-shell cubic vertices are given by

$$\mathcal{V}_a = 2iM_* \left(\frac{1}{M_g^2} - \frac{1}{M_f^2}\right) (z_{23}zp_{12} + z_{13}zp_{23} + z_{12}zp_{31})^2 + \frac{3im^2(1 - 4c_3)}{M_*} z_{12}z_{13}z_{23}, \quad (4.13)$$

$$\mathcal{V}_b = \frac{2iM_*}{M_g M_f} \left(z_{23} z p_{12} + z_{13} z p_{23} + z_{12} z p_{31} \right)^2, \tag{4.14}$$

$$\mathcal{V}_d = \frac{2iM_*}{M_g M_f} \left(z_{23} z p_{12} + z_{13} z p_{23} + z_{12} z p_{31} \right)^2.$$
(4.15)

The mass scale suppressing the massless cubic vertex, \mathcal{V}_d , is $M_f M_g / M_* = \sqrt{M_f^2 + M_g^2}$ so this defines $M_{\rm Pl}$ for this theory. Comparing to the vertices in section 2, we then see that ghost-free bi-gravity corresponds to

$$a_1 = 3\frac{M_f M_g}{M_*^2}(1 - 4c_3), \qquad a_2 = 2\left(\frac{M_f}{M_g} - \frac{M_g}{M_f}\right), \qquad a_3 = 2a_2, \qquad a_5 = 0, \qquad (4.16)$$

$$b_1 = d_1 = b_3 = 2,$$
 $b_2 = 4,$ $c_2 = d_3 = b_5 = b_6 = 0.$ (4.17)

The original bi-gravity action is invariant under a diffeomorphism which transforms both metrics as tensors, and so we automatically have $b_1 = d_1$ as mandated by the S-matrix equivalence principle.

In the massive gravity limit $M_f \to \infty$ we are left with just the vertex

$$\mathcal{V}_a = \frac{2i}{M_g} \left(z_{23} z p_{12} + z_{13} z p_{23} + z_{12} z p_{31} \right)^2 + \frac{3im^2(1 - 4c_3)}{M_g} z_{12} z_{13} z_{23}, \tag{4.18}$$

which is the dRGT cubic vertex [3].

4.3 Background solutions

We now look for shockwave solutions of the ghost-free bi-gravity theory (4.1). We use lightcone coordinates (3.1), and look for Aichelburg-Sexl type solutions of the following form:

$$\bar{g}_{\mu\nu} = \eta_{\mu\nu} + G(x^+, \vec{x}) \, l_\mu l_\nu \,, \tag{4.19}$$

$$\bar{f}_{\mu\nu} = \eta_{\mu\nu} + F(x^+, \vec{x}) \, l_\mu l_\nu \,, \tag{4.20}$$

where $l^{\mu} = (1, 0, \vec{0})$. Substituting this ansatz into the equations of motion for g and f that follow from (4.1), we find

$$-\frac{M_g^2}{2}\nabla^2 G(x^+, \vec{x}) + \frac{m^2 M_*^2}{2} \left[G(x^+, \vec{x}) - F(x^+, \vec{x}) \right] = T_{++}^{(g)} , \qquad (4.21)$$

$$-\frac{M_f^2}{2}\nabla^2 F(x^+, \vec{x}) + \frac{m^2 M_*^2}{2} \left[F(x^+, \vec{x}) - G(x^+, \vec{x})\right] = T_{++}^{(f)}, \qquad (4.22)$$

where $\nabla^2 \equiv \partial_y^2 + \partial_z^2$. Notably, the β_n disappear from these equations as we would expect for an Aichelburg-Sexl type metric, which typically only depends on the linear structure of the theory.

The stress tensor sources that we consider are

$$T_{++}^{(g)} = \frac{M_g}{M_f} |p^-| A_0(x^+) \,\delta(\vec{x}) + |p^-| A_m(x^+) \,\delta(\vec{x}) \,, \tag{4.23}$$

$$T_{++}^{(f)} = \frac{M_f}{M_g} |p^-| A_0(x^+) \,\delta(\vec{x}) - |p^-| A_m(x^+) \,\delta(\vec{x}) \,, \tag{4.24}$$

which in the general case describe shocks propagating in the x^- direction coupled to both the massive and massless eigenstates with radial profiles given by the general functions $A_0(x^+)$ and $A_m(x^+)$. From (4.9), the coupling of the mass eigenstates to the energymomentum tensor is given by

$$\frac{2}{M_g}h^{++}T^{(g)}_{++} + \frac{2}{M_f}k^{++}T^{(f)}_{++} = \frac{2}{M_*}u^{++}|p^-|A_0(x^+)\delta(\vec{x}) + \frac{2}{M_*}v^{++}|p^-|A_m(x^+)\delta(\vec{x}). \quad (4.25)$$

We see that the function $A_0(x^+)$ sources the massless spin-2 particle $u_{\mu\nu}$ while $A_m(x^+)$ sources the massive spin-2 particle $v_{\mu\nu}$. We consider a point source energy-momentum tensor and define the constants κ_0 and κ_m by

$$A_0(x^+) = \kappa_0 \frac{M_*^2}{2M_f M_g} \delta(x^+), \quad A_m(x^+) = \kappa_m \frac{M_*^2}{2M_f M_g} \delta(x^+), \tag{4.26}$$

which correspond to the scalar couplings defined in section 3. The S-matrix equivalence principle requires that $\kappa_0 = 2$. This choice ensures that matter is canonically coupled to the Minkowski metric in the limit of zero metric fluctuations for both the f and g metrics.

There are two independent solutions to the equations (4.21) and (4.22), which can be expressed as

$$G(x^+, \vec{x}) = A_0(x^+) f_0(\vec{x}) + \frac{M_*^2}{M_g^2} A_m(x^+) f_m(\vec{x}), \qquad (4.27)$$

$$F(x^+, \vec{x}) = A_0(x^+) f_0(\vec{x}) - \frac{M_*^2}{M_f^2} A_m(x^+) f_m(\vec{x}), \qquad (4.28)$$

where the functions $f_0(\vec{x})$ and $f_m(\vec{x})$ satisfy

$$\nabla^2 f_0(\vec{x}) = -\frac{2}{M_f M_g} |p^-|\delta(\vec{x}), \qquad (4.29)$$

$$(\nabla^2 - m^2) f_m(\vec{x}) = -\frac{2}{M_*^2} |p^-|\delta(\vec{x}). \qquad (4.30)$$

The solutions to equations (4.29) and (4.30) are given by

$$f_0(\vec{x}) = \frac{|p^-|}{\pi M_f M_g} \log\left(\frac{L}{b}\right) , \qquad (4.31)$$

$$f_m(\vec{x}) = \frac{|p^-|}{\pi M_*^2} K_0(mb) \,. \tag{4.32}$$

Here we have introduced an IR cutoff, L, in the first expression.

4.4 Fluctuations

In order to determine the phase shift due to propagation in the shockwave background, we expand the two metrics $g_{\mu\nu}$ and $f_{\mu\nu}$ about their respective backgrounds as follows:

$$g_{\mu\nu} = \eta_{\mu\nu} + G(x^+, \vec{x}) \, l_\mu l_\nu + \frac{2}{M_g} h_{\mu\nu} \,, \qquad (4.33)$$

$$f_{\mu\nu} = \eta_{\mu\nu} + F(x^+, \vec{x}) \, l_\mu l_\nu + \frac{2}{M_f} k_{\mu\nu} \,. \tag{4.34}$$

We expand the equations of motion for g and f to leading order in the fluctuations $h_{\mu\nu}$ and $k_{\mu\nu}$ and look for solutions. Of the combined 20 components of $h_{\mu\nu}$ and $k_{\mu\nu}$ there will be seven independent propagating degrees of freedom corresponding to the two degrees of freedom of the massless graviton and the five degrees of freedom of the massive spin-2 particle. We solve for these. For clarity, we consider the phase shifts due to the two independent background solutions F, G separately. The total phase shift due to both backgrounds will simply be the sum of the two.

4.4.1 Massless shockwave

Let us start by setting $\kappa_0 \neq 0$, $\kappa_m = 0$, which corresponds to a shockwave source that only couples directly to the massless spin-2 particle. After various field redefinitions of $h_{\mu\nu}$ and $k_{\mu\nu}$ we can isolate the five physical modes of the massive spin-2 field, which we denote by V_I where $I = S, V_1, V_2, T_1, T_2$ and the two physical modes of the massless spin-2 field which we denote by U_I where $I = T_1, T_2$. (See [2, 3] for more details of our method.) From the full equations of motion for the metric fluctuations, we find the following five equations of motion for the five massive modes, V_I :

$$\partial_{+}V_{I} + i|p^{+}|\frac{m^{2} + q^{2}}{2(p^{+})^{2}}V_{I} = i\kappa_{0}\frac{p^{-}p^{+}M_{*}^{2}}{16\pi M_{f}^{2}M_{g}^{2}}\delta(x^{+})\left[4\log\left(\frac{1}{mb}\right)V_{I}\right].$$
(4.35)

For the two massless modes, U_I , we find the following:

$$\partial_{+}U_{I} + i|p^{+}|\frac{q^{2}}{2(p^{+})^{2}}U_{I} = i\kappa_{0}\frac{p^{-}p^{+}M_{*}^{2}}{16\pi M_{f}^{2}M_{g}^{2}}\delta(x^{+})\left[4\log\left(\frac{1}{mb}\right)U_{I}\right].$$
(4.36)

The mixing matrix between the various modes (i.e., the right hand side of the above equations) is diagonal, with the eigenvalues for all seven modes given by

$$\lambda_I = 4 \log\left(\frac{L}{b}\right) \,. \tag{4.37}$$

After diagonalizing the modes, the first order differential equations (4.35) and (4.36) can be integrated to obtain

$$V(x^{+}) = V_{I}(x_{0}^{+})e^{-ip^{+}\int_{x_{0}^{+}}^{x^{+}} \mathrm{d}\tilde{x}^{+} \left(\frac{m^{2}+q^{2}}{2(p^{+})^{2}} - \frac{\kappa_{0}p^{-}M_{*}^{2}}{16\pi M_{f}^{2}M_{g}^{2}}\delta(\tilde{x}^{+})\lambda_{I}(b)\right)},$$
(4.38a)

$$U(x^{+}) = U_{I}(x_{0}^{+})e^{-ip^{+}\int_{x_{0}^{+}}^{x^{+}} \mathrm{d}\tilde{x}^{+} \left(\frac{q^{2}}{2(p^{+})^{2}} - \frac{\kappa_{0}p^{-}M_{*}^{2}}{16\pi M_{f}^{2}M_{g}^{2}}\delta(\tilde{x}^{+})\lambda_{I}(b)\right)}.$$
(4.38b)

The phase shifts experienced by the particles have two components, the first is a dispersion effect which is integrated along the trajectory; the second is an anomalous phase shift localized at the shock, which corresponds to the Shapiro time delay. We integrate just across the shock to isolate this second component:

$$\delta(s,b) = \kappa_0 \frac{p^- p^+ M_*^2}{16\pi M_f^2 M_g^2} \lambda_I(b) = \kappa_0 \frac{s}{8\pi M_{\rm Pl}^2} \log\left(\frac{L}{b}\right) \,, \tag{4.39}$$

where $M_{\rm Pl} \equiv M_f M_g / M_*$. This agrees with the corresponding amplitude result (3.38) when we substitute $b_1 = 2$. The S-matrix equivalence principle sets $\kappa_0 = 2$ and we see again that all seven modes have a positive phase shift.

4.4.2 Massive shockwave

We repeat the same procedure, now setting $\kappa_0 = 0, \kappa_m \neq 0$. This corresponds to a shockwave source coupling only to the massive spin-2 particle. For the scalar and vector modes of the massive particle we find the following equations:

$$\partial_{+}V_{I} + i|p^{+}|\frac{m^{2} + q^{2}}{2(p^{+})^{2}}V_{I} = i\kappa_{m}\frac{p^{-}p^{+}}{16\pi M_{f}M_{g}}\delta(x^{+})M_{IJ}V_{J}, \qquad (4.40)$$

where we restrict to $I = S, V_1, V_2$. M_{IJ} is a 3×3 matrix with eigenvalues given by

$$\lambda_S = \frac{(5 - 12c_3)M_f^2 + (1 - 12c_3)M_g^2}{M_f^2 + M_g^2} K_0(mb), \qquad (4.41)$$

$$\lambda_{V_1,V_2} = \frac{(13 - 36c_3)M_f^2 + (5 - 36c_3)M_g^2}{2(M_f^2 + M_g^2)}K_0(mb) \pm \frac{1 - 4c_3}{2}\sqrt{9K_0(mb)^2 + 48K_1(mb)^2}.$$
(4.42)

The phase shifts are then given by

$$\delta_{S,V}(s,b) = \kappa_m \frac{p^- p^+}{16\pi M_f M_g} \lambda_I(b) = \kappa_m \frac{s}{32\pi M_f M_g} \lambda_I(b).$$
(4.43)

In order for the vector phase shift to be positive at small impact parameter, we must have $c_3 = \frac{1}{4}$ and thus $a_1 = 0$, as found in (3.31a). On this value, the eigenvalues become

$$\lambda_{S,V} = 2 \frac{M_f^2 - M_g^2}{M_f^2 + M_g^2} K_0(mb) \,. \tag{4.44}$$

The phase shifts are thus

$$\delta_{S,V} = \kappa_m \frac{s}{16\pi M_{\rm Pl}^2} \left(\frac{M_f}{M_g} - \frac{M_g}{M_f}\right) K_0(mb).$$
(4.45)

This agrees with the scattering result (3.37a) after substituting a_2 as given in (4.16).

If we now consider the tensor modes, we find that the equations mix the massless U_I and massive V_I tensor modes:

$$\partial_{+}U_{I} + i|p^{+}|\frac{q^{2}}{2(p^{+})^{2}}U_{I} = i\kappa_{m}\frac{p^{-}p^{+}M_{*}^{2}}{16\pi M_{f}^{2}M_{g}^{2}}\delta(x^{+})\left[4K_{0}(mb)V_{I}\right],$$
(4.46)

$$\partial_{+}V_{I} + i|p^{+}|\frac{m^{2} + q^{2}}{2(p^{+})^{2}}V_{I} = i\kappa_{m}\frac{p^{-}p^{+}M_{*}^{2}}{16\pi M_{f}^{2}M_{g}^{2}}\delta(x^{+})\left[4K_{0}(mb)U_{I} + 4\frac{M_{f}^{2} - M_{g}^{2}}{M_{f}M_{g}}K_{0}(mb)V_{I}\right].$$

$$(4.47)$$

Here $I = T_1, T_2$ corresponds to the two tensor modes for each of the fields. As can be seen from the left hand side of the above equations, the two sets of modes obey different dispersion relations — one massless and one massive. However, this difference becomes negligible when integrating across the shockwave to find the phase difference. Thus we can simply calculate the eigenvalues of the mixing matrix from the right hand side of the above expression. We find the following four eigenvalues:

$$\lambda_{T_{1,2}} = 4 \frac{M_f}{M_g} K_0(mb) \,, \quad \lambda_{T'_{1,2}} = -4 \frac{M_g}{M_f} K_0(mb) \,. \tag{4.48}$$

The phase shifts are thus given by

$$\delta_T = \kappa_m \, \frac{s}{8\pi M_{\rm Pl}^2} \frac{M_f}{M_g} K_0(mb) \,, \quad \delta_{T'} = -\kappa_m \, \frac{s}{8\pi M_{\rm Pl}^2} \frac{M_g}{M_f} K_0(mb) \,. \tag{4.49}$$

These agree with the scattering result (3.37b) after substituting b_1 and a_2 as given in (4.16). Thus, for the case of $\kappa_0 = 0$, we see that the phases are only positive when $M_f \to \infty$, implying $b_1 \to 0$, which is also the constraint from the equivalence principle.

4.4.3 General case

For the most general case with $\kappa_0 \neq 0$ and $\kappa_m \neq 0$, the total phase shifts are simply the sum of the phase shifts found separately above for the two independent shockwave solutions. In order for the phase shift associated to the vector modes to be positive in this generic case, we again find $c_3 = \frac{1}{4}$. We can then determine the phase shift for all the modes, subject to this constraint. One finds

$$\delta_{S,V} = \frac{s}{8\pi M_{\rm Pl}^2} \left[\kappa_0 \log\left(\frac{L}{b}\right) + \frac{\kappa_m}{2} \left(\frac{M_f}{M_g} - \frac{M_g}{M_f}\right) K_0(mb) \right], \tag{4.50}$$

$$\delta_T = \frac{s}{8\pi M_{\rm Pl}^2} \left[\kappa_0 \log\left(\frac{L}{b}\right) + \kappa_m \frac{M_f}{M_g} K_0(mb) \right] \,, \tag{4.51}$$

$$\delta_{T'} = \frac{s}{8\pi M_{\rm Pl}^2} \left[\kappa_0 \log\left(\frac{L}{b}\right) - \kappa_m \frac{M_g}{M_f} K_0(mb) \right] \,. \tag{4.52}$$

Positivity of the phase shifts then requires the following two conditions on the free parameters of the bi-gravity theory:

$$\kappa_0 + \kappa_m \, \frac{M_f}{M_g} \ge 0 \,, \tag{4.53}$$

$$\kappa_0 - \kappa_m \, \frac{M_g}{M_f} \ge 0 \,. \tag{4.54}$$



Figure 2. A plot of the allowed parameter space for the coupling constant $\alpha_m = \kappa_m \frac{M_*^2}{2M_f M_g}$ and the ratio M_g/M_f . The shaded region corresponds to the allowed parameter space. The different curves correspond to different matter couplings: coupling to the *g* metric only (blue, dotted), to the *f* metric only (orange, long dash), equally to both metrics (green, solid), to the massless eigenstate only (pink, dot dashed), and equal coupling to both the massive and massless eigenstates (yellow, short dash). The information contained in this plot is equivalent to that in figure 1, but these variables are the ones that arise naturally in bimetric gravity.

These are the same inequalities as (3.42), but phrased in the variables more natural to bi-gravity.

This allowed region is plotted in figure 2, together with curves corresponding to various special cases of the matter couplings. For clarity, following the definitions of equation (4.26), we use the couplings

$$\alpha_0 = \kappa_0 \frac{M_*^2}{2M_f M_g}, \quad \alpha_m = \kappa_m \frac{M_*^2}{2M_f M_g}.$$
 (4.55)

The S-matrix equivalence principle sets $\kappa_0 = 2$ and thus $\alpha_0 = \frac{M_*^2}{M_f M_g}$, leaving an allowed region for values of α_m as a function of M_g/M_f . The dRGT massive gravity limit corresponds to $M_f \to \infty$ and thus $\alpha_0 \to 0$. I.e., in this limit the matter sector couples only to the massive eigenstate.

4.5 Implications for bi-gravity

As mentioned above, the main constraint that arises from the asymptotic subluminality condition for bi-gravity is that the cubic coupling takes the special value $c_3 = \frac{1}{4}$. Intriguingly, this corresponds to the most general ghost-free bi-gravity theory (4.1) with a \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry under the interchange of the $g_{\mu\nu}$ and $f_{\mu\nu}$ metrics.

In addition, the conditions (3.42), found both from the scattering and the shockwave calculations, constrain the matter coupling constant κ_m in terms of M_g/M_f . The allowed region of parameter space for ghost-free bi-gravity coupled to a single scalar is shown in figure 2.

Bi-gravity theories in which both metrics couple to the same matter sector have attracted much interest in the literature. Generically, "doubly-coupled" matter re-introduces the Boulware-Deser ghost [33] at scales below the cutoff of the bi-gravity EFT. However, in [34] (see also [35]) a particular double-coupling was introduced of the form

$$\mathcal{L}_{\phi} = -\frac{1}{2}\sqrt{-g_{\text{eff}}} \left(g_{\text{eff}}^{\mu\nu}\partial_{\mu}\phi\partial_{\nu}\phi + m_{\phi}^{2}\phi^{2}\right), \qquad (4.56)$$

where

$$g_{\mu\nu}^{\text{eff}} = \alpha^2 g_{\mu\nu} + 2\alpha\beta g_{\mu\lambda} \mathbb{X}^{\lambda}{}_{\nu} + \beta^2 f_{\mu\nu}$$
(4.57)

and $\mathbb{X}_{\nu}^{\mu} \equiv \sqrt{g^{\mu\lambda} f_{\lambda\nu}}$. With this matter coupling the Boulware-Deser ghost is absent in a certain high-energy limit known as the "decoupling limit." This indicates that the scale associated with the ghost is larger than the cutoff $\Lambda_3 = (m^2 M_{Pl})^{1/3}$ of the bi-gravity EFT. Thus such a matter coupling is consistent within the regime of validity of the EFT. Let us make contact between this particular matter coupling and the results of the previous sections. We can expand the matter Lagrangian around a flat background using (4.8) and

$$g_{\mu\lambda} \mathbb{X}^{\lambda}{}_{\nu} = \eta_{\mu\nu} + \frac{1}{M_g} h_{\mu\nu} + \frac{1}{M_f} k_{\mu\nu} + \mathcal{O}(h^2, k^2, hk).$$
(4.58)

In terms of the mass eigenstates (4.9) this gives the cubic interactions

$$\mathcal{L}_{\phi} \supset -\frac{1}{M_{\rm Pl}} \left[u^{\mu\nu} + \frac{v^{\mu\nu}}{\alpha + \beta} \left(\alpha \frac{M_f}{M_g} - \beta \frac{M_g}{M_f} \right) \right] \phi \,\partial_{\mu} \partial_{\nu} \phi, \tag{4.59}$$

where $M_{\rm Pl} = \sqrt{M_f^2 + M_g^2}$ and we have canonically normalized the scalar assuming that $\alpha + \beta \neq 0$. The doubly-coupled matter Lagrangian thus corresponds to the cubic couplings

$$\kappa_0 = 2, \quad \kappa_m = \frac{2}{\alpha + \beta} \left(\alpha \frac{M_f}{M_g} - \beta \frac{M_g}{M_f} \right).$$
(4.60)

From this we see that the equivalence principle constraint $\kappa_0 = 2$ is automatically satisfied, as expected from overall diffeomorphism invariance of the action. The κ_m coupling falls inside the region allowed by asymptotic subluminality when $\alpha\beta \ge 0$. The cases of coupling to a single metric, $\alpha = 0$ or $\beta = 0$, correspond to the top and bottom lines in figure 2, which are on the boundary of the region allowed by asymptotic subluminality. The case $\alpha = \beta = 1/2$ gives the solid green curve in figure 2.

5 Eikonal scattering in D > 4

Up to this point, we have focused on physics in D = 4. Although this is likely the most physically relevant situation, the D = 4 Gram identity (2.5) means that some structures

vanish identically. We would therefore like to understand if any of these structures can appear in a higher-dimensional theory consistent with asymptotic subluminality. In this section we briefly describe the higher-dimensional version of the eikonal scattering calculation considered in section 3.

The main difference in higher dimensions is that all 16 structures can appear. In addition to this, there are now D-2 independent vector polarizations and $\frac{(D-2)(D-2)}{2} - 1$ tensor polarizations.¹⁰ Aside from this, the computation in $D \neq 4$ is essentially the same as in four dimensions.

Repeating the procedure outlined in section 3, we obtain an amplitude of the schematic form (3.23). The various constants appearing in \hat{S}_0 and \hat{S}_m are now dimension-dependent. Their exact form is not particularly illuminating, so we will not reproduce them here. Upon diagonalizing the amplitude we get a collection of constraints on the couplings. Solving these gives the same solutions as in D = 4 for the cases $\kappa_0 = 0$, $\kappa_m \neq 0$ and $\kappa_m = 0$, $\kappa_0 \neq 0$, namely (3.31a) and (3.32a). The only difference is that the conditions $c_1 = d_2 = b_4 = 0$ now follow from positivity of the eikonal phase of the additional vector and tensor polarizations, rather than from dimensionally-dependent identities. The case $\kappa_0 \neq 0$, $\kappa_m \neq 0$ is different since the higher-dimensional structures can survive. The final solution to the constraint is

$$a_5 = b_6 = c_2 = d_3 = 0, (5.1a)$$

$$4a_1 = 6a_3 - 12a_2 = 3a_4 = -\frac{12\kappa_0^2 c_1}{\kappa_m^2},$$
(5.1b)

$$2b_1 = b_2, \quad b_2 - 2b_3 = b_4 = b_5 = \frac{4\kappa_0 c_1}{\kappa_m}, \quad d_2 = \frac{4\kappa_m c_1}{\kappa_0}.$$
 (5.1c)

There is now an extra free coefficient, c_1 , parameterizing the non-Einstein-Hilbert couplings. However since these additional terms depend on the matter couplings, κ_i , we should expect them to be set to zero by the full spin-2-spin-2 eikonal calculation. This is because the constraints from the full amplitude must be at least as strong as (5.1) but they cannot depend on κ_i .

In order to consider pure spin-2 scattering, we square the scalar-spin-2 amplitude as in (3.43). In this case, we find that positivity of the eikonal phase requires, in addition to the constraints (5.1), that $c_1 = 0$, as expected. We therefore see that again all couplings must be of the Einstein-Hilbert form. This is in accordance with the results of [1], who considered a restricted set of couplings.

6 Conclusions

We have derived model independent constraints on the cubic couplings of any effective field theory of a massive spin-2 field coupled to a massless spin-2 field. These constraints come from demanding positivity of the eikonal phase in $2 \rightarrow 2$ scattering, which corresponds physically to demanding the absence of asymptotic superluminality in the four-particle

 $^{^{10}}$ See [3] for an explicit basis for these in *D*-dimensions.

S-matrix. We find that the vertices in the theory must be of the Einstein-Hilbert type, as well as other constraints involving matter couplings to a scalar. If an effective theory has vertices which do not satisfy these constraints, then there is superluminality at a scale parametrically the same as the scale suppressing the cubic couplings, which in effective theories of bi-gravity is generally the mass of the spin-2 particle. Curing this superluminality requires the presence of new physics at this scale. Thus, in any UV-complete theory with these low energy degrees of freedom and a parametric gap to the next states, we can say the cubic vertices must satisfy our constraints.

In the purely massive case, we also have other IR constraints on UV completion coming from analytic dispersion relations [36–39] applied to the four particle amplitude in the forward limit $t \to 0$. When there are massless particles present these constraints become muddled due to ~ 1/t singularities in the forward limit and possible violations of the Froissart bound, so it is difficult to extract any clean constraints. Thus in the case of interest for this paper we do not have any such complementary constraints and the eikonal constraints are the only robust clues about UV completion that we are aware of.

When these constraints are applied to ghost-free bi-gravity, they reduce the possible two-parameter family of theories to the unique one-parameter sub-family which possesses a \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry under the interchange of the two metrics. Curiously, this is not the first time that a \mathbb{Z}_2 -symmetric bi-gravity theory has been identified in the literature as possessing special properties beyond this symmetry. In [40–42] a \mathbb{Z}_2 -symmetric theory was identified as the unique candidate theory for "partially massless" gravity, an exotic representation of the de Sitter algebra that propagates fewer degrees of freedom than a usual massive spin-2 particle [43]. In this theory, the longitudinal mode of the massive spin-2 particle is entirely absent in the scalar-tensor sector of a certain high-energy limit (the "decoupling limit"). This requirement fixes $c_3 = \frac{1}{4}$, just as we found above, and also $d_5 = -\frac{1}{32}$, where d_5 controls the quartic interactions of the theory. It would be interesting to extend our calculation to include next-to-leading-order terms in the eikonal limit, which would be sensitive to quartic vertices, and to check if $d_5 = -\frac{1}{32}$ is identified as a special point.

It is worthwhile to mention the assumptions that go into these constraints. First of all, we assume that the eikonal approximation is in fact valid in the spin-2 case, i.e., that summing over the ladder diagrams indeed captures the eikonal limit of the full scattering amplitude. The eikonal approximation for lower-spin particles in fact fails, as described in [44–46]. A physical argument for its validity for spins ≥ 2 and its failure for spins < 2is given in [1], but it has not been proven at a technical level. Secondly, we have assumed that the absence of asymptotic time advances is in fact a fundamental requirement of a UV complete theory. As far as we are aware, there is no direct derivation of this requirement as a consequence of more fundamental *S*-matrix requirements like locality or analyticity. It is possible that the presence of superluminality of this kind may not always lead to acausality, closed time-like curves, or consistency problems [12, 13, 47, 48]. Conversely, even in the absence of superluminality of this kind, there could be other consistency issues that arise, possibly on other backgrounds.¹¹ Finally, we have assumed that flat space is a solution out

¹¹According to [13], problematic spacetimes admitting closed time-like curves are excluded in ghostfree bi-gravity provided that the square root matrix appearing in the bi-gravity action is specified in a proper way.

to length scales much larger than the Compton wavelength of the massive spin-2 particle. In many cosmological applications of massive gravity or bi-gravity, this is typically not the case, since the horizon size is of order m^{-1} , and so the bounds derived do not directly apply. It would be interesting to find analogous bounds directly in cosmological backgrounds.

There are a variety of situations where both massless and massive spin-2 states appear, and it would be interesting to explore how our constraints interact with these examples. It is already known that the way string theory is consistent with these eikonal constraints is rather intricate: it is not through having the cubic vertex combinations we have identified, but rather through cancellations between particles on the leading Regge trajectory [1, 49]. Another oft-studied situation where massive spin-2 states arise coupled to gravity is in Kaluza-Klein reductions, where an infinite set of massive spin-2 particles appear. It would be illuminating to study the cubic couplings which arise in these cases.

Finally, we have focused on scattering amplitudes in flat space, but the AdS version of our constraints should connect to causality constraints on CFT correlation functions involving the stress tensor and a non-conserved spin-2 operator, with the gap to the next heaviest operator, Δ_{gap} , playing the same role as m in our analysis. The analogous connection for pure stress tensor correlators has by now led to many interesting consequences, e.g., [50–54]. Indeed, recently [55] have placed constraints on some mixed spin-2-stress tensor correlators using the Regge behavior of CFT correlators [56–59] and our results appear to be in qualitative agreement with theirs. It would be very interesting to further elucidate this connection.

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank Clifford Cheung and Juan Maldacena for helpful conversations and correspondence. RAR is supported by DOE grant DE-SC0011941 and Simons Foundation Award Number 555117. AJ and RAR are supported by NASA grant NNX16AB27G.

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- X.O. Camanho, J.D. Edelstein, J. Maldacena and A. Zhiboedov, Causality Constraints on Corrections to the Graviton Three-Point Coupling, JHEP 02 (2016) 020 [arXiv:1407.5597] [INSPIRE].
- [2] X.O. Camanho, G. Lucena Gómez and R. Rahman, Causality Constraints on Massive Gravity, Phys. Rev. D 96 (2017) 084007 [arXiv:1610.02033] [INSPIRE].
- [3] K. Hinterbichler, A. Joyce and R.A. Rosen, Massive Spin-2 Scattering and Asymptotic Superluminality, JHEP 03 (2018) 051 [arXiv:1708.05716] [INSPIRE].
- [4] N. Arkani-Hamed, H. Georgi and M.D. Schwartz, Effective field theory for massive gravitons and gravity in theory space, Annals Phys. 305 (2003) 96 [hep-th/0210184] [INSPIRE].

- [5] P. Creminelli, A. Nicolis, M. Papucci and E. Trincherini, *Ghosts in massive gravity*, *JHEP* 09 (2005) 003 [hep-th/0505147] [INSPIRE].
- [6] S.F. Hassan and R.A. Rosen, Bimetric Gravity from Ghost-free Massive Gravity, JHEP 02 (2012) 126 [arXiv:1109.3515] [INSPIRE].
- S.F. Hassan and R.A. Rosen, Resolving the Ghost Problem in non-Linear Massive Gravity, Phys. Rev. Lett. 108 (2012) 041101 [arXiv:1106.3344] [INSPIRE].
- [8] C. de Rham and G. Gabadadze, Generalization of the Fierz-Pauli Action, Phys. Rev. D 82 (2010) 044020 [arXiv:1007.0443] [INSPIRE].
- [9] C. de Rham, G. Gabadadze and A.J. Tolley, Resummation of Massive Gravity, Phys. Rev. Lett. 106 (2011) 231101 [arXiv:1011.1232] [INSPIRE].
- [10] K. Hinterbichler, A. Joyce and R.A. Rosen, *Eikonal Scattering and Asymptotic Superluminality of Massless Higher Spins*, arXiv:1712.10021 [INSPIRE].
- S. Deser, M. Sandora and A. Waldron, No consistent bimetric gravity?, Phys. Rev. D 88 (2013) 081501 [arXiv:1306.0647] [INSPIRE].
- [12] C. Burrage, C. de Rham, L. Heisenberg and A.J. Tolley, Chronology Protection in Galileon Models and Massive Gravity, JCAP 07 (2012) 004 [arXiv:1111.5549] [INSPIRE].
- [13] S.F. Hassan and M. Kocic, On the local structure of spacetime in ghost-free bimetric theory and massive gravity, JHEP 05 (2018) 099 [arXiv:1706.07806] [INSPIRE].
- [14] G. Goon and K. Hinterbichler, Superluminality, black holes and EFT, JHEP 02 (2017) 134 [arXiv:1609.00723] [INSPIRE].
- [15] H. Cheng and T.T. Wu, High-energy elastic scattering in quantum electrodynamics, Phys. Rev. Lett. 22 (1969) 666 [INSPIRE].
- [16] M. Levy and J. Sucher, Eikonal approximation in quantum field theory, Phys. Rev. 186 (1969) 1656 [INSPIRE].
- [17] H.D.I. Abarbanel and C. Itzykson, *Relativistic eikonal expansion*, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 23 (1969) 53 [INSPIRE].
- [18] D.N. Kabat and M. Ortiz, Eikonal quantum gravity and Planckian scattering, Nucl. Phys. B 388 (1992) 570 [hep-th/9203082] [INSPIRE].
- [19] P.C. Schuster and N. Toro, Constructing the Tree-Level Yang-Mills S-matrix Using Complex Factorization, JHEP 06 (2009) 079 [arXiv:0811.3207] [INSPIRE].
- [20] A. Schmidt-May and M. von Strauss, Recent developments in bimetric theory, J. Phys. A 49 (2016) 183001 [arXiv:1512.00021] [INSPIRE].
- [21] P. Bull et al., Beyond ΛCDM: Problems, solutions and the road ahead, Phys. Dark Univ. 12 (2016) 56 [arXiv:1512.05356] [INSPIRE].
- [22] A.R. Solomon, osmology Beyond Einstein, Ph.D. Thesis, Cambridge University, Cambridge U.K. (2015) [arXiv:1508.06859].
- [23] K. Hinterbichler, Cosmology of Massive Gravity and its Extensions, in Proceedings of 51st Rencontres de Moriond, Cosmology session, La Thuile Italy (2016), pg. 223
 [arXiv:1701.02873] [INSPIRE].
- [24] M.S. Costa, J. Penedones, D. Poland and S. Rychkov, Spinning Conformal Correlators, JHEP 11 (2011) 071 [arXiv:1107.3554] [INSPIRE].

- [25] P. Kravchuk and D. Simmons-Duffin, *Counting Conformal Correlators*, *JHEP* **02** (2018) 096 [arXiv:1612.08987] [INSPIRE].
- [26] E. Conde, E. Joung and K. Mkrtchyan, Spinor-Helicity Three-Point Amplitudes from Local Cubic Interactions, JHEP 08 (2016) 040 [arXiv:1605.07402] [INSPIRE].
- [27] S. Folkerts, A. Pritzel and N. Wintergerst, On ghosts in theories of self-interacting massive spin-2 particles, arXiv:1107.3157 [INSPIRE].
- [28] K. Hinterbichler, Ghost-Free Derivative Interactions for a Massive Graviton, JHEP 10 (2013) 102 [arXiv:1305.7227] [INSPIRE].
- [29] S. Weinberg, Infrared photons and gravitons, Phys. Rev. 140 (1965) B516 [INSPIRE].
- [30] M. Porrati, Old and New No Go Theorems on Interacting Massless Particles in Flat Space, in Proceedings of 17th International Seminar on High Energy Physics (Quarks 2012), Yaroslavl Russia (2012) [arXiv:1209.4876] [INSPIRE].
- [31] P.C. Aichelburg and R.U. Sexl, On the Gravitational field of a massless particle, Gen. Rel. Grav. 2 (1971) 303 [INSPIRE].
- [32] T. Dray and G. 't Hooft, The Gravitational Shock Wave of a Massless Particle, Nucl. Phys. B 253 (1985) 173 [INSPIRE].
- [33] D.G. Boulware and S. Deser, Can gravitation have a finite range?, Phys. Rev. D 6 (1972) 3368 [INSPIRE].
- [34] C. de Rham, L. Heisenberg and R.H. Ribeiro, On couplings to matter in massive (bi-)gravity, Class. Quant. Grav. 32 (2015) 035022 [arXiv:1408.1678] [INSPIRE].
- [35] J. Noller and S. Melville, The coupling to matter in Massive, Bi- and Multi-Gravity, JCAP 01 (2015) 003 [arXiv:1408.5131] [INSPIRE].
- [36] C. Cheung and G.N. Remmen, *Positive Signs in Massive Gravity*, *JHEP* **04** (2016) 002 [arXiv:1601.04068] [INSPIRE].
- [37] J. Bonifacio, K. Hinterbichler and R.A. Rosen, Positivity constraints for pseudolinear massive spin-2 and vector Galileons, Phys. Rev. D 94 (2016) 104001 [arXiv:1607.06084] [INSPIRE].
- [38] B. Bellazzini, F. Riva, J. Serra and F. Sgarlata, Beyond Positivity Bounds and the Fate of Massive Gravity, Phys. Rev. Lett. 120 (2018) 161101 [arXiv:1710.02539] [INSPIRE].
- [39] C. de Rham, S. Melville and A.J. Tolley, Improved Positivity Bounds and Massive Gravity, JHEP 04 (2018) 083 [arXiv:1710.09611] [INSPIRE].
- [40] C. de Rham and S. Renaux-Petel, Massive Gravity on de Sitter and Unique Candidate for Partially Massless Gravity, JCAP 01 (2013) 035 [arXiv:1206.3482] [INSPIRE].
- [41] S.F. Hassan, A. Schmidt-May and M. von Strauss, On Partially Massless Bimetric Gravity, Phys. Lett. B 726 (2013) 834 [arXiv:1208.1797] [INSPIRE].
- [42] C. de Rham, K. Hinterbichler, R.A. Rosen and A.J. Tolley, Evidence for and obstructions to nonlinear partially massless gravity, Phys. Rev. D 88 (2013) 024003 [arXiv:1302.0025]
 [INSPIRE].
- [43] S. Deser and R.I. Nepomechie, Anomalous Propagation of Gauge Fields in Conformally Flat Spaces, Phys. Lett. B 132 (1983) 321.
- [44] G. Tiktopoulos and S.B. Treiman, Relativistic eikonal approximation, Phys. Rev. D 3 (1971) 1037 [INSPIRE].

- [45] H. Cheng and T.T. Wu, Expanding Protons: Scattering At High-Energies, MIT Press, Cambridge U.S.A. (1987).
- [46] D.N. Kabat, Validity of the Eikonal approximation, Comments Nucl. Part. Phys. 20 (1992) 325 [hep-th/9204103] [INSPIRE].
- [47] E. Babichev, V. Mukhanov and A. Vikman, *k-Essence, superluminal propagation, causality* and emergent geometry, *JHEP* **02** (2008) 101 [arXiv:0708.0561] [INSPIRE].
- [48] R. Geroch, Faster Than Light?, AMS/IP Stud. Adv. Math. 49 (2011) 59 [arXiv:1005.1614] [INSPIRE].
- [49] G. D'Appollonio, P. Di Vecchia, R. Russo and G. Veneziano, Regge behavior saves String Theory from causality violations, JHEP 05 (2015) 144 [arXiv:1502.01254] [INSPIRE].
- [50] D.M. Hofman and J. Maldacena, Conformal collider physics: Energy and charge correlations, JHEP 05 (2008) 012 [arXiv:0803.1467] [INSPIRE].
- [51] D.M. Hofman, Higher Derivative Gravity, Causality and Positivity of Energy in a UV complete QFT, Nucl. Phys. B 823 (2009) 174 [arXiv:0907.1625] [INSPIRE].
- [52] A. Buchel and R.C. Myers, Causality of Holographic Hydrodynamics, JHEP 08 (2009) 016 [arXiv:0906.2922] [INSPIRE].
- [53] T. Hartman, S. Jain and S. Kundu, A New Spin on Causality Constraints, JHEP 10 (2016) 141 [arXiv:1601.07904] [INSPIRE].
- [54] N. Afkhami-Jeddi, T. Hartman, S. Kundu and A. Tajdini, Einstein gravity 3-point functions from conformal field theory, JHEP 12 (2017) 049 [arXiv:1610.09378] [INSPIRE].
- [55] D. Meltzer and E. Perlmutter, Beyond a = c: Gravitational Couplings to Matter and the Stress Tensor OPE, arXiv:1712.04861 [INSPIRE].
- [56] M. Kulaxizi, A. Parnachev and A. Zhiboedov, Bulk Phase Shift, CFT Regge Limit and Einstein Gravity, arXiv:1705.02934 [INSPIRE].
- [57] D. Li, D. Meltzer and D. Poland, Conformal Bootstrap in the Regge Limit, JHEP 12 (2017) 013 [arXiv:1705.03453] [INSPIRE].
- [58] M.S. Costa, T. Hansen and J. Penedones, Bounds for OPE coefficients on the Regge trajectory, JHEP 10 (2017) 197 [arXiv:1707.07689] [INSPIRE].
- [59] N. Afkhami-Jeddi, T. Hartman, S. Kundu and A. Tajdini, Shockwaves from the Operator Product Expansion, arXiv:1709.03597 [INSPIRE].